
 

 

 

 

 
PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO 

 
10.00 AM - DYDD MAWRTH, 22 AWST 2023 

 
CYFARFOD AML-LEOLIAD - SIAMBR Y CYNGOR, PORT TALBOT A 

MICROSOFT TEAMS 
 

 
RHAID GOSOD POB FFÔN SYMUDOL AR Y MODD DISTAW AR 

GYFER PARHAD Y CYFARFOD 
 

Gweddarlledu/Cyfarfodydd Hybrid:  
Gellir ffilmio’r cyfarfod hwn i’w ddarlledu’n fyw neu’n ddiweddarach drwy 

wefan y cyngor. Drwy gymryd rhan, rydych yn cytuno i gael eich ffilmio ac 
i’r delweddau a’r recordiadau sain hynny gael eu defnyddio at ddibenion 

gweddarlledu a/neu hyfforddiant o bosib 
 
 Rhan 1 

 
1.  Cyhoeddiad y Cadeirydd   

 
2.  Datganiadau o fuddiannau   

 
3.  Gwneud cais am ymweliad(au) safle gan y ceisiadau a gyflwynwyd   

 
 Adroddiad/au gan Bennaeth Cynllunio a Diogelu'r Cyhoedd 

 
 Adran A - Materion i'w Penderfynu 

 
 Ceisiadau Cynllunio wedi'u hargymell ar gyfer Cymeradwyaeth 
 
4.  Cais Rhif P2023/0265 - Tir yn Foundry Road  (Tudalennau 5 - 34) 

Adeiladu 15 o unedau diwydiannol/masnachol ysgafn (Defnydd 
Dosbarth B2/B8) â lleoedd parcio, ardal wasanaethu, tirlunio caled 
a meddal a gwaith draenio cysylltiedig ar dir i'r gogledd o Old 
Foundry Road, Pontardawe. 
 

AGENDA 



 
5.  Cais Rhif P2023/0480 - 6 Cardonnel Road  (Tudalennau 35 - 42) 

Ardal ddec uwch arfaethedig y tu ôl i'r eiddo, gyda sgrîn 
breifatrwydd gysylltiedig yn 6 Cardonnel Road, Sgiwen, Castell-
nedd, Castell-nedd Port Talbot SA10 6DE 
 

 Adran B - Materion Er Gwybodaeth 
 

6.  Apeliadau y Penderfynwyd arnynt - 24/07/2023 i 11/08/2023  
(Tudalennau 43 - 44) 
 

7.  Apeliadau a dderbyniwyd - 24/07/2023 i 11/08/2023   
(Tudalennau 45 - 46) 
 

8.  Penderfyniadau Dirprwyedig - 24/07/2023 i 11/08/2023  
(Tudalennau 47 - 56) 

 
9.  Eitemau brys   

Unrhyw eitemau brys yn ôl disgresiwn y Cadeirydd yn unol ag 
Adran 100BA(6)(b) o Ddeddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972 (fel y’i 
diwygiwyd) 
 

 
K.Jones 

Prif Weithredwr 
 

Canolfan Ddinesig 
Port Talbot Dydd Mawrth, 15 Awst 2023 
 
 



 
 
Aelodaeth Pwyllgor:  
 
Cadeirydd: Y Cynghorydd J.Jones 

 
Is-Gadeirydd: 
 

Y Cynghorydd T.Bowen 
 

Aelodau: 
 

Cynghorydd S.Paddison, D.Keogh, R.Davies, 
H.Davies, C.James, C.Jordan, S.Thomas, 
N.Goldup-John, R.Mizen a/ac P.Rogers 
 

Aelod Cabinet: Cynghorydd W.F.Griffiths 
 
Gwneud cais i siarad yng nghyfarfod y Pwyllgor Cynllunio 
 
Mae gan y cyhoedd hawl i fynd i'r cyfarfod ac annerch y pwyllgor yn unol â 
gweithdrefn gytunedig y cyngor sydd ar gael yn www.npt.gov.uk/planning.   
 
Os hoffech siarad yn y Pwyllgor Cynllunio ynghylch cais yr adroddwyd 
amdano i'r pwyllgor hwn, mae'n rhaid i chi: 
 

       Gysylltu â'r Gwasanaethau Democrataidd yn ysgrifenedig, naill ai 
drwy'r post yn: Y Ganolfan Ddinesig, Port Talbot SA13 1PJ, neu'n 
ddelfrydol drwy e-bostio: democratic.services@npt.gov.uk. 

       Sicrhau eich bod yn gwneud eich cais i siarad ddau ddiwrnod gwaith 
cyn dyddiad y cyfarfod fan bellaf (erbyn 2pm ar y dydd Gwener 
blaenorol os yw'r cyfarfod ar ddydd Mawrth).  

       Nodi’n glir rif yr eitem neu'r cais rydych am siarad amdani/o a 
chadarnhewch a ydych yn cefnogi'r cais neu’n ei wrthwynebu. 

       Rhoi eich enw a'ch cyfeiriad (a fydd ar gael i'r cyhoedd oni bai fod 
rhesymau penodol dros gyfrinachedd). 

 
Sylwer, dim ond un person sy’n gallu siarad ar ran pob 'categori' ar gyfer 
pob cais h.y. y gwrthwynebydd, y cefnogwr, yr ymgeisydd/asiant, y 
Cyngor Cymuned/Tref. Ceir manylion llawn yng ngweithdrefn gytunedig y 
cyngor. 
 
Yn ogystal, os yw gwrthwynebydd yn dymuno siarad, hysbysir yr 
ymgeisydd/asiant gan y cyngor. 
 
Os ydych yn dymuno trafod unrhyw agwedd ar siarad cyhoeddus, 
ffoniwch dîm y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd ar 01639 763313. 

http://www.npt.gov.uk/planning
mailto:democratic.services@npt.gov.uk


Cyflwyno sylwadau ar geisiadau cynllunio yr adroddir amdanynt i'r 
pwyllgor 

Os ydych yn dymuno cyflwyno sylwadau ar gais a gyflwynir i'r Pwyllgor 
Cynllunio hwn, sylwer bod rhaid i'r Adran Gynllunio dderbyn y rhain erbyn 
2.00pm ar y dydd Gwener cyn cyfarfod y pwyllgor fan bellaf (yn seiliedig 
ar y cyfarfod dydd Mawrth arferol). Os nad yw'r cyfarfod ar ddydd Mawrth, 
dylid eu derbyn erbyn 2.00pm ar y diwrnod gwaith olaf ond un cyn y 
Pwyllgor Cynllunio fan bellaf.  

Caiff sylwadau a dderbynnir yn unol â phrotocol y cyngor eu crynhoi a, lle 
y bo'n briodol, gwneir sylwadau arnynt ar ffurf Taflen Ddiwygio, a 
ddosberthir i aelodau'r Pwyllgor Cynllunio drwy e-bost ar y noson cyn 
cyfarfod y pwyllgor, a'i chyflwyno ar ffurf copi caled yn y cyfarfod. 

 
 
 



 

 

SECTION A – MATTERS FOR DECISION 
 
Planning Applications Recommended For Approval  

 

APPLICATION NO: P2023/0265 DATE: 05/06/2023 

PROPOSAL: Construction of 15 no. light industrial/commercial units 
(Use Class B2/B8) with associated parking, servicing, hard 
and soft landscaping and drainage works 

LOCATION: Land to the north of Old Foundry Road, Pontardawe  

APPLICANT: Mr Paul Markey, Bluefield Land Ltd 

TYPE: Full Plans  

WARD: Pontardawe 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
This application is reported to Planning Committee because the application site is 
allocated for a housing development within the Adopted Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan. The recommendation to approve this application for the 
development of new light industrial/commercial business units therefore materially 
departs from policies contained within the LDP. 
 
SITE AND CONTEXT 
 
The application site comprises an overgrown, brownfield site of approximately 
0.76ha in size (site of a former foundry, demolished in circa.2014) located on the 
Alloy Industrial Estate to the east of Pontardawe Town Centre, approximately 5km to 
the north of Neath and 12km to the north east of Swansea. The site is accessible via 
the A4067, which connects to the M4 approximately 6.5km to the south. The 
application site is well connected to nearby public transport links and pedestrian 
access to the amenities in Pontardawe town centre.  
 
The land immediately surrounding the site to the north east and south east is 
predominantly employment/industrial use. There is a small section of residential use 
on Old Foundry Road immediately to the south west of the site. The site is bounded 
to the north west by Swansea Canal footpath, with residential uses beyond. Nearby 
Pontardawe town centre includes a range of retail and community facilities. The 
surrounding land uses is a mix of commercial/industrial and residential, although the 
immediate context of the site itself is more industrial in nature. 
 
DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT 
 
As set out in the description of development, full planning permission is sought to 
provide a series of light industrial/commercial units with associated vehicle access 
doors and external parking to meet a growing demand for start-up businesses. The 
proposed development is for 15, single storey units each with a gross internal floor 
area of 129m2 including office and welfare facilities, and set out in three separate 
blocks, which equates to an overall site density of approximately 20 units per 
hectare. Each individual unit has 2 dedicated car parking spaces and a larger space 
for a long wheelbase van in front of the roller shutter vehicle access door. Each 
individual unit has the facility for an electric charging point to serve both car parking 
spaces and the van space as well as gigabit capable broadband infrastructure all 

Tudalen5

Eitem yr Agenda4



 

 

located immediately to the front to each individual unit. There are communal bin 
storage and cycle storage areas to serve each block of units. 
 
The proposed site layout has three separate blocks. The block nearest to the 
residential properties to the west comprises Units 1-3. There is then a central block 
comprising Units 4-11 and a third block comprising Units 12-15 at the eastern end.  
All the units face internally to the site, which is accessed via a single access near the 
centre of the site.  A new pedestrian/cycle link to the town centre is provided in the 
north-west corner connecting to Holly Street and Arthur Terrace and the existing 
canal towpath. An existing belt of mature trees and the embankment to Swansea 
Canal is retained along the site’s northern boundary. The southern boundary is 
proposed to be soft landscaped and form the basis of the separate surface water 
(SuDS) drainage proposals with a new footway to connect with existing footways on 
either side of the site. A new tactile pedestrian crossing is proposed either side of the 
proposed vehicular entrance point. 
 
The application is accompanied by a suite of drawings and supporting technical 
documents/reports including: 
 

 Flood Consequences Assessment (‘FCA’) 

 Arboricultural Report 

 Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (‘PEA’) 

 Drainage Concept Plan 

 Design & Access Statement (‘DAS’) 

 Pre-Application (‘PAC’) Report 

 Construction Environmental Management Plan (‘CEMP’) 

 Noise Impact Assessment 

 Air Quality Report 

 Site Investigation Report 

 Welsh Language Action Plan 

 Renewable Energy Assessment 
 
All plans / documents submitted in respect of this application can be viewed on the 
Council’s online register.   
 
NEGOTIATIONS 
 
Pre-application planning advice was given on the need to evidence why an industrial 
development of the application site is more acceptable than a residential 
development as well as the suite of supporting technical documents that would need 
to be provided to bring forward a development of the site. Post-submission 
improvements were sought in respect of a renewable energy assessment, electric 
vehicle charging and gigabit capable broadband infrastructure provision. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen6

http://appsportal.npt.gov.uk/ords/idocs12/f?p=Planning:2:0::NO::P2_REFERENCE:P2023/0265


 

 

PLANNING HISTORY 
 
Relevant Planning History 
 
The application site has the following relevant planning history: 
 
Ref. Description Decision Date 
P2019/5708 CONSTRUCTION OF 36 

AFFORDABLE RESIDENTIAL 
UNITS, HIGHWAYS ACCESS, 
PARKING, LANDSCAPING AND 
ASSOCIATED INFRASTRUCTURE 
WORKS 

Withdrawn 16.03.2020 

P2014/0550 PRIOR APPROVAL FOR THE 
DEMOLITION OF REDUNDANT 
FOUNDRY BUILDING 

Prior 
notification not 
required 

01.07.2014 

P2008/1337 REMOVAL OF CONDITION 11 OF 
PLANNING PERMISSION 
P2007/0215 IN RESPECT OF 
PROVISION OF AFFORDABLE 
HOUSING 

Refused 
 
Appeal 
Allowed 

22.12.2008 
 
12.05.2009 

P2007/0215 OUTLINE PLANNING 
APPLICATION FOR RESIDENTIAL 
DEVELOPMENT WITH 
ASSOCIATED ACCESS AND 
ENGINEERING WORKS 

Approved 30.06.2008 

P2005/0061 OUTLINE PLANNING 
APPLICATION - DEMOLITION OF 
EXISTING WORKS BUILDINGS 
AND CONSTRUCTION OF MIXED 
RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 

Disposed of 11.04.2006 

L1995/0162 USE OF DISUSED CHURCH 
BUILDING AS A PATTERN SHOP 
WITH ATTENDANT LANDSCAPING 
AND CAR PARKING 

Refused 27.07.1995 

L1986/0106 PROPOSED CONSTRUCTION OF 
CAR PARK DEMOLITION OF 
VESTRY CONSTRUCTION OF 
ACCESS 

Approved 14.05.1986 

 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Pontardawe Town Council: No comments received. 
 
Highways: No objection. Recommend a number of conditions. 
 
Drainage: SAB approval required – a pre-application has been submitted and advice 
given. 
 
Sustainable Transport: No adverse comments. Query required level of cycle 
parking in adopted parking SPG compared to newer active travel guidance. 
 

Tudalen7



 

 

Biodiversity: No objection, subject to conditions. 
 
Tree Officer: There are two B category trees T1 and T2 which are near Unit 10 

which due to their condition should be retained. Due to the existing topography and 

site conditions there is a very low risk of any root damage or interference to the root 

system on the south side of the trees but to avoid any excessive root damage any 

alteration in the existing ground levels within the RPA’S must be avoided. If the 

guidance in the ArbTS report and BS5837:2012 are followed I have no objections. 

 
Environmental Health (Noise): The Noise Impact Assessment that has been 

included only relates to deliveries. There is no further information on how 15 B2 / B8 

uses may affect the area, what sound reduction insulation would be required for the 

units, hours of use, layouts. I would therefore recommend that each unit has a 

separate Noise Impact Assessment carried out that is approved by the Local 

Planning Authority.  

Environmental Health (Air Quality): No Objection, subject to conditions.  
 
Land Contamination: No Objection, subject to conditions.  
 
PRoW Officer: No registered rights of way are affected. 
 
DOCO (Police Design Out Crime): The whole site should be protected by security 

fencing and gates. The Active travel route should ideally be designed out - if not, it 

should be open to pedestrians only when the site is occupied. I would ask for the 

whole site especially the vehicle and pedestrian entrances onto the site, entrances 

into the units, the vehicle parking areas and bike and bin stores to be protected by 

CCTV and signage. The whole development, especially the vehicle parking areas, 

would benefit from lighting that meets the British Standard 5489. Recommends 

various building security design features for walls, doors and windows and alarm 

systems. 

DCWW (Welsh Water): Site is crossed by an abandoned 300mm foul water sewer 
which affects operational development within 3m either side of its centreline. Exact 
location to be determined prior to commencement of any works on site. 
 
CRT (Canal & River Trust): We have concerns relating to slope stability and flood 
risk/drainage. Use of the site for light industrial/commercial units gives us less cause 
for concern than the previous residential scheme to which we objected. Whilst we 
would prefer to have additional site investigation information prior to determination, if 
you are minded to approve the application we recommend a number of 
pre-commencement conditions are imposed. We will need to agree the types of 
piles, vibration levels and foundation designs and construction methodology for the 
walls and units within the zone of influence of the Swansea Canal. Technical Advice 
Note 15: Development and Flood Risk (TAN 15) identifies flood risk from canals and 
identifies the need to consider their capacity to cause local flooding where overflow 
channels fail to operate, or an embankment fails or is breached. It is noted that the 
applicant is intending to design the buildings to be flood resistant and resilient but the 
LPA should be satisfied that the risk of flooding is acceptable.  

Tudalen8



 

 

 
NRW (Natural Resources Wales): No adverse comments but have concerns in 
respect of flood risk and contamination which need to be controlled by conditions. 
Not fully TAN 15 compliant but it is for the LPA to determine whether the risks and 
consequences can be managed to an acceptable level. Defer to LPA ecologist on 
submitted ecology report. 
 
GGAT (Glamorgan Gwent Archaeological Trust): We have consulted the regional 
Historic Environment Record (HER) and note the proposal is partially located on the 
site of an iron foundry opened in 1865 and depicted on the 1st edition Ordnance 
Survey map. However the construction and subsequent expansion of the foundry is 
likely to have had an adverse effect on any potential archaeological remains that 
may have been located on the site. No objections. As the record is not definitive, 
features may be disturbed during the course of the work, in which case we should be 
contacted again. 
 
Mid & West Wales Fire Authority: No objection. 
 
Wales & West Utilities: Major accident hazard pipeline apparatus within the vicinity 
of the site. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The Ward Members were notified on 14 June 2023. 
 
The neighbouring properties were consulted on 14 June 2023. 
 
A site notice was also displayed on 14 June 2023. 
 
The application was also advertised in the press (major/departure) on 24 June 2023. 
 
In response, to date no representations have been received. 
 
REPORT 
 
Relevant Planning Policies 
 
The Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 places a duty on the 
Council to take reasonable steps in exercising its functions to meet its sustainable 
development (or wellbeing) objectives. This report has been prepared in 
consideration of the Council’s duty and the “sustainable development principle”, as 
set out in the 2015 Act. In reaching the recommendation set out below, the Council 
has sought to ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising 
the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 
 
The Historic Environment (Wales) Act 2016 enhances the protection and 
sustainable management of the wider historic environment for the cultural, social, 
economic and environmental benefit of future generations. 
 
The Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013 makes walking and cycling the preferred 
option for shorter journeys, particularly everyday journeys, such as to and from a 
workplace or shops and services. 

Tudalen9



 

 

 
The Environment (Wales) Act 2016 places a duty on the Council to maintain and 
enhance biodiversity, promote the resilience of ecosystems and increase their ability 
to adapt to events such as the impacts of climate change. 
 
National Planning Policy: 
 
Future Wales: The National Plan 2040 is the national development framework, 
setting the direction for development in Wales to 2040. The development plan sets 
out a strategy for addressing key national priorities through the planning system, 
including sustaining and developing a vibrant economy, achieving decarbonisation 
and climate resilience, developing strong ecosystems and improving the health and 
wellbeing of our communities. 
 
The following policies are of particular relevance to the assessment of this 
application: 
 
Policy 2 – Shaping Urban Growth and Regeneration – Strategic Placemaking  
Policy 8 - Flooding 
Policy 9 – Resilient Ecological Networks and Green Infrastructure  
Policy 12 – Regional Connectivity  
Policy 13 – Supporting Digital Communications 
 
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11, February 2021) outlines the Welsh 
Government's commitment to the importance of 'places' and 'place-making', the 
importance of using previously developed land wherever possible in preference to 
greenfield sites, and the recognition of the health and wellbeing related benefits by 
creating a sense of place and improving social cohesion. PPW 11 confirms that the 
environmental components of places are intrinsically linked to the quality of the built 
and natural environment and contribute to the health and wellbeing of the people 
who live, work and play there. It emphasises the importance of creating sustainable 
communities and reducing reliance on the private car as part of a package of 
measures to reduce the country's carbon footprint and help tackle the climate 
emergency. 
 
The following guidance is of particular relevance in the assessment of this planning 
application: 
 
6.7.4 The planning system should maximise its contribution to achieving the 
well-being goals, and in particular a healthier Wales, by aiming to reduce average 
population exposure to air and noise pollution alongside action to tackle high 
pollution hotspots. In doing so, it should consider the long-term effects of current and 
predicted levels of air and noise pollution on individuals, society and the environment 
and identify and pursue any opportunities to reduce, or at least, minimise population 
exposure to air and noise pollution, and improve soundscapes, where it is practical 
and feasible to do so.’ 
 
6.7.6 In proposing new development, planning authorities and developers must, 
therefore:  
• address any implication arising as a result of its association with, or location within, 
air quality management areas, noise action planning priority areas or areas where 
there are sensitive receptors; 

Tudalen10

mailto:https://gov.wales/future-wales-national-plan-2040
mailto:https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/planning-policy-wales-edition-11_0.pdf


 

 

• not create areas of poor air quality or inappropriate soundscape; and  
• seek to incorporate measures which reduce overall exposure to air and noise 
pollution and create appropriate soundscapes. 
 
6.7.7 To assist decision making it will be important that the most appropriate level of 
information is provided and it may be necessary for a technical air quality and noise 
assessment to be undertaken by a suitably qualified and competent person on behalf 
of the developer. 
 
The Placemaking Charter, of which Neath Port Talbot Council are a signatory sets 
out the following principles: 
 
People and community  
The local community are involved in the development of proposals. The needs, 
aspirations, health and well-being of all people are considered at the outset. 
Proposals are shaped to help to meet these needs as well as create, integrate, 
protect and/or enhance a sense of community and promote equality.  
 
Location  
Places grow and develop in a way that uses land efficiently, supports and enhances 
existing places and is well connected. The location of housing, employment and 
leisure and other facilities are planned to help reduce the need to travel.  
 
Movement  
Walking, cycling and public transport are prioritised to provide a choice of transport 
modes and avoid dependence on private vehicles. Well designed and safe active 
travel routes connect to the wider active travel and public transport network and 
public transport stations and stops are positively integrated.  
 
Mix of uses  
Places have a range of purposes which provide opportunities for community 
development, local business growth and access jobs, services and facilities via 
walking, cycling or public transport. Development density and a mix of uses and 
tenures helps to support a diverse community and vibrant public realm.  
 
Public realm  
Streets and public spaces are well defined, welcoming, safe and inclusive with a 
distinct identity. They are designed to be robust and adaptable with landscape, green 
infrastructure and sustainable drainage well integrated. They are well connected to 
existing places and promote opportunities for social interaction and a range of 
activities for all people.  
 
Identity  
The positive, distinctive qualities of existing places are valued and respected. The 
unique features and opportunities of a location including heritage, culture, language, 
built and natural physical attributes are identified and responded to. 
 
PPW 11 is supported by a series of more detailed Technical Advice Notes (TANs), of 
which the following are of relevance: - 
 

 Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation and Planning 

 Technical Advice Note 11: Noise 

Tudalen11

https://gov.wales/technical-advice-notes


 

 

 Technical Advice Note 12: Design 

 Technical Advice Note 15: Development and Flood Risk 

 Technical Advice Note 18: Transport 

 Technical Advice Note 23: Economic Development 
 

Local Planning Policies 
 
The Local Development Plan for the area comprises the Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan which was adopted in January 2016, and within which the 
following policies are of relevance: 
 
In addition to national guidance contained within Planning Policy Wales and national 
planning policies contained within Future Wales: The National Development Plan 
2040 (February 2021), any application would be considered against the Policies 
within the Adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan, details of which are 
available on the Council’s web site by visiting www.npt.gov.uk/ldp .The relevant 
local plan policies would include: 

 
Strategic Policies : 
 

 Policy SP1  Climate Change 

 Policy SP2  Health  

 Policy SP3  Sustainable communities 

 Policy SP4 Infrastructure 

 Policy SP6  Development in the Valleys Strategy Area 

 Policy SP7 Housing Requirement 

 Policy SP8 Affordable Housing 

 Policy SP9  Gypsies and Travellers 

 Policy SP10 Open Space 

 Policy SP11  Employment Growth 

 Policy SP15 Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

 Policy SP16  Environmental Protection 

 Policy SP18  Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 

 Policy SP19  Waste Management 

 Policy SP20 Transport Network 

 Policy SP21  Built Environment and Historic Heritage 

 Policy SP22  Welsh Language 
 

Topic Based Policies :  
 

 Policy SC1 Settlement limits 

 Policy I1  Infrastructure Requirements 

 Policy H1  Housing Sites* 

 Policy OS1  Open Space Provision  

 Policy EC2  Existing Employment Areas  

 Policy EC3  Employment Area Uses  

 Policy EN6 Important Biodiversity and Geodiversity Sites  

 Policy EN7  Important Natural Features 

 Policy EN8  Pollution and Land Stability  

 Policy RE2  Renewable and Low Carbon Energy in New Development 

 Policy W3  Waste Management in New Development 

Tudalen12

https://www.npt.gov.uk/7328
https://www.npt.gov.uk/7328
http://www.npt.gov.uk/ldp
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=35
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=35
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=37
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=41
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=48
file://///decs-fs1/decsgroup/Planning%20Management/Steve/OFFICER%20REPORTS%20PROJECT/Policy%20SP7%09Housing%20Requirement%09https:/www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf%23PAGE=53
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=56
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=58
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=59
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=61
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=72
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=74
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=78
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=80
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=83
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=87
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=89
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=38
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=39
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=53
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=60
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=63
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=63
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=73
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=73
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=74
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=80
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=82


 

 

 Policy TR2  Design and Access of New Development  

 Policy BE1  Design  

 Policy BE3  The Canal Network 

 Policy WL1  Development in Language Sensitive Areas 
 
* H1/LB/32 Holly Street, Pontardawe - The brownfield site offers a redevelopment 
opportunity close to the centre of Pontardawe:  
● Highways - highway improvement works required together with Traffic Regulation 
Orders; Transport Assessment submitted alongside planning application.  
● Affordable Housing Provision - requirement.  
● Contamination - ground investigation works required.  
● Environment - scheme for the eradication of invasive species required; an 
appropriate 7 metre buffer to the canal required; Flood Consequences Assessment 
submitted alongside planning application. 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance:  
 
The following SPG is of relevance to this application: - 
 

 Planning Obligations (October 2016) 

 Parking Standards (October 2016) 

 Pollution (October 2016) 

 Open Space & Greenspace (July 2017) 

 Renewable and Low Carbon Energy (July 2017) 

 Design (July 2017) 

 Development and the Welsh Language (July 2017) 

 Biodiversity and Geodiversity (May 2018) 

 The Historic Environment (April 2019) (incl. SPG: Schedule of Designated 
Canal Structures) 

 
Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) and Appropriate Assessment (AA) 
Screening 
 
The application site does not exceed the Schedule 2 threshold for development of 
this type as outlined within the Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations. As 
such the application has not been screened in accordance with the requirements of 
Schedule 3 of the Regulations.  
 
The proposed development is not located within a zone of influence for any Special 
Area of Conservation (SAC), Candidate Special Area of Conservation (CSAC) or 
Ramsar sites and as such it is considered that an Appropriate Assessment as set 
down within the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 is not 
required.  
 
Issues 
 
Having regard to the above, the main issues to consider in this application relate to 
the principle of an industrial development, together with the impact on the visual 
amenity and character of the area, the impact on the amenities of neighbouring 
residential properties, the impact on highway safety as well as ecology, 
environmental risk/pollution control, flood risk (including canal safety) and Welsh 
Language considerations. 

Tudalen13

https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=84
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=87
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=89
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/ldp_written_statement_jan16.pdf#PAGE=90
https://www.npt.gov.uk/pdf/spg_planning_obligations_oct16.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/spg_parking_standards_oct16.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/PDF/spg_pollution_oct16.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/7239/spg_open_space_july17.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/7241/spg_renewable_energy_july17.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/7237/spg_design_july17.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/7243/spg_welsh_language_july17.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/9003/spg_biodiversity_geodiversity_may18.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/11629/spg_historic_environment_april19.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/11633/spg_canal_schedule_april19.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/11633/spg_canal_schedule_april19.pdf


 

 

 
Principle of Development 
 
The application site is allocated for housing in the Adopted LDP (reference H1/LB/32 

Holly Street).  A previous application to develop the site for residential purposes was 

submitted in 2019 (application reference P2019/5708) however this was withdrawn 

prior determination. Pontardawe has experienced high levels of Nickel above 

European targets in previous years and this was one of the primary factors in the 

withdrawal of this previous application.  The Council, in partnership with NRW and 

businesses in the area, have invested a considerable amount of time and money to 

try to resolve the issue of nickel emissions, nevertheless the issue remains and 

accordingly to advance the principle of a residential development would be to accept 

that its future residents would be exposed to an unacceptable level of air pollution.  

Policy EN8 of the LDP states that ‘Pollution of all types can cause significant 

damage to human health, biodiversity, quality of life and residential amenity’ and 

Policy EN8 is intended to ensure that developments ‘will not exacerbate existing 

problems, cause new problems or result in more people being routinely exposed to 

unacceptable pollution levels of any type’. A residential development on the 

application site would therefore be contrary to these policies and increase the 

long-term human exposure to poor air quality. 

The emerging revisions to both PPW Edition11 and TAN 11 (expected late 

2023/early 2024) will increase the importance of air quality in planning assessments 

of appropriate land use and indicates Welsh Government’s commitment to improving 

air quality standards for the benefit of future generations. 

In addition due to the site lying in proximity to other commercial uses, noise impacts 

upon proposed additional residential uses would need to be considered. The impacts 

upon residential amenity, and the potential for residential development to impact 

subsequently in restricting existing uses already within the area. To mitigate these 

impacts would require significant mitigation through site design, including the need 

for acoustic barriers and exclusion zones that would have made the development 

visually unacceptable and contrived.  

 

Accordingly, for this reason, it is accepted that a non-residential development which 

is not so sensitive to existing air quality/pollution concerns at the site should be 

accepted. The surrounding land use is predominantly industrial – with adjoining land 

allocated for employment use in the LDP (Policy EC2/18 Alloy Industrial Estate) - 

and the site itself was a former foundry (a form of industrial use).  Therefore it is 

recommended that a departure from LDP Policy H1 be accepted in this case and the 

principle of an industrial use allowed, as a more suitable use of the site at this time, 

considering existing site constraints.  

 

Impact on Visual Amenity/Character of the Area 

Tudalen14



 

 

 
The proposed industrial units follow a fairly functional pattern, comprising metal clad 
sheeting on a brick plinth with large roller-shutter access doors. The site layout has 
been informed by the requirement to provide a maximum amount of S and SW facing 
roofs to accommodate Solar PV. The proposed terrace of units also gives maximum 
flexibility in available unit sizes through the potential for combining units, depending 
on the demand.   
 
There is a large amount of soft landscaping which provides amenity open space – as 
required by LDP Policy OS1 – in the form of an existing embankment and mature 
trees to the north and new SuDS features to the south. This provides a softening to 
site boundaries which compensates for the otherwise predominance of hard 
landscaping features to provide functional parking, access and delivery space to 
serve the units.  The proposed units are considered to be entirely appropriate for the 
site context, given the extent and number of existing industrial developments already 
located on this established industrial estate. 
 
The arrangement of the blocks of units creates a sense of enclosure within the site 
whilst still maintaining an outward looking development that welcomes visitors in. 
The prime elevations are visible from the main industrial estate road (old Foundry 
Road) while the rear plainer elevations are mostly obscured by the steep 
embankment and mature trees to the north of the site. Additional soft landscaping to 
the eastern and western boundaries will further soften the appearance of the site 
from wider vantage points. 
 
The recommendations of the designing out crime advisor are noted, however it is not 
considered appropriate to design out the active travel route (as this links the site to 
the town centre and canal towpath thereby improving accessibility for non-car users).  
Retaining an open plan within the site itself is considered essential for the layout to 
function but the site boundaries can be secured with a sympathetically designed 
mesh fencing, reinforced with additional soft landscaping, all of which can be 
controlled by conditions. 
 
Subject to control over materials/finishes for the buildings, site boundaries and 
trees/landscaping, it is considered that the development will have an acceptable 
impact on the character and appearance of the area. 
 
Impact on Residential Amenity 
 
The nearest residential properties are located to the west of the site, on Holly Street. 
There will be some adverse impact on the outlook of the nearest properties which 
will overlook the rear elevation of proposed Units 1-3. The fact the residential 
properties are located at a higher ground level does mitigate this impact to a certain 
degree however it remains that they currently overlook an undeveloped site therefore 
the introduction of Units 1-3 close to their curtilage boundary will have some adverse 
impact, albeit the ‘active’ frontage (and associated noise from deliveries etc.) would 
be furthest away from the residential property.  A greater separation distance from 
the boundary was sought, however this would have had an adverse impact on 
manoeuvring capabilities at the front of these units, which also provide a key active 
travel link via the north-west corner of the site. Accordingly it is considered that 
additional noise survey of these units is necessary to manage the impact on 
residential amenity, together with additional landscaping to the western boundary to 

Tudalen15



 

 

reinforce the separation between the residential and industrial land uses.  
Historically, secondary vehicular access to the foundry was obtained via Holly Street 
therefore the proposed development with its sole vehicular access from Old Foundry 
Road and pedestrian/cycle access only from Holly Street is considered to provide a 
betterment to residential amenity in this respect. 
 
In conclusion, the introduction of new industrial/commercial units on an undeveloped 
site will inevitably cause some harm to the residential amenity of adjacent residential 
occupiers, however the impact is not considered to be so harmful as to warrant a 
refusal of the application, subject to additional noise control measures and boundary 
treatments. 
 
Parking and Access Requirements and Impact on Highway Safety 
 
The site is proposed to be accessed off Old Foundry Road by way of an upgraded 
and widened crossover in the location of the original site access. The radii of the 
kerbs has been revised to 6m to ensure all vehicles can safely enter and leave the 
site as shown on the submitted vehicle tracking drawings. The widened entrance and 
the new radii ensure that the required visibility splays can be provided. The proposed 
parking numbers are in accordance with the Parking Standards SPG, which requires 
1 van space and 2 car spaces per unit up to 235m2. Secure cycle parking and 
electric vehicle charging spaces are provided for all units in excess of the number 
required to comply with current policy and standards. 
 
New tactile paving has been included on the existing pavement to ensure the access 
is safe for pedestrians. 2m wide adoptable standard footpaths have been included 
which provide safe access for pedestrians into and out of the site to increase 
connectivity. These footpaths link to 1.3m wide internal footpaths within the side 
which provide access to the blocks at either end of the site where dedicated 
pedestrian routes across the parking/service areas provide further links to the units. 
The SW safe route provides a link to a modified connection to the existing access 
from Holly Street, which provides a shorter pedestrian link to the Town Centre. This 
also provides a link, via the footpath on Holly Street, to the canal towpath. These 
safe walking routes will be clearly marked on the surface finish to improve safety for 
pedestrians. This makes the service areas a shared space for pedestrians and 
vehicles which is in accordance with the principles of Manual for Streets and helps 
ensure that on site vehicular speeds are reduced. 
 
The Council’s Highways Officer raises no objection to the application, subject to 
conditions. Accordingly the development is considered to have an acceptable impact 
on highway and pedestrian safety. 
 
Biodiversity / Ecology 
 
As identified above, Policies EN6 and EN7 of the Local Development Plan will be of 
relevance insofar as there is a need to ensure any impacts on biodiversity/ natural 
features are appropriately assessed and, where applicable, mitigated.   
 
The application is accompanied by a 2023 Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, which 
has updated an earlier 2019 version, including a ground-based assessment of trees 
and reptile survey. The report found that the main significant change at the site was 
the continuing development of woody scrub, with areas dominated by young 

Tudalen16



 

 

common gorse (not found in 2019), silver birch, alder and goat willow. Buddleia is 
also abundant. Japanese knotweed remains present throughout with a concentration 
on the northern boundary adjacent to the canal embankment. The ground based tree 
survey found no significant changes to the condition of trees although there had 
been continued ivy growth presenting a denser appearance on some trees 
compared to 2019. One tree, a mature oak T3, was considered to be of high 
potential to support rooting bats meaning further survey is necessary if works were 
likely to affect it, however the proposal is to maintain all mature trees with the layout 
designed to this affect. In 2019 a reptile presence absence survey was undertaken 
which proved negative. At that time it was considered the site was largely isolated 
from suitable habitat. It is considered this remains the situation and no further reptile 
survey is recommended. Therefore it is concluded that there are no apparent 
ecological reasons that would prevent the proposed development from going ahead. 
 
In line with the Council’s duties under the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 and the 
requirements of Future Wales Policy 9, there is a requirement to secure 
enhancements for biodiversity on all new developments.  The proposed scheme has 
included areas of landscaping associated with SuDs drainage which will increase the 
flora on the site and potentially encourage insects and birds to the site. In addition, 
the buildings themselves will incorporate bat and bird boxes within their façades to 
encourage new species to the site. 3 no. Beaumaris Bat boxes will be installed at 
high level on the South and/or West facing elevations of each of the blocks as shown 
on the site plan. These enhancements can be secured by condition. The Council’s 
Ecologist raises no objection to the application, subject to conditions. Accordingly the 
development is considered to have an acceptable impact on biodiversity. 
 
Environmental Risk / Pollution Control 

The Council’s Land Contamination Officer has confirmed that the proximity of the 

application site to historical industrial uses requires that a detailed site investigation 

for potential contaminants is necessary.  The submitted ground investigation report 

was deemed to be unsatisfactory as it had not been updated to reflect the proposed 

change of land use and accordingly this desk-top survey will need to be updated to 

comply with LDP Policy EN8 and the Adopted ‘Pollution’ SPG in this regard.  NRW 

also insist on an ‘unexpected contamination’ condition being applied to address their 

concerns. These requirements can be secured by condition. 

 

As described above, Pontardawe has experienced high levels of Nickel above 

European targets in previous years and this was a principal factor in the withdrawal 

of the previous scheme for a residential development of this site submitted in 

2019.  Environmental Health is working hard with local business operators, Welsh 

Government and other stakeholders to improve the air quality and reduce emissions 

in the area.  

In order to understand any impact that the proposed development will have on 

existing air quality, it will be necessary to provide air quality assessments for the type 

of industrial use that will be occupying the site.  Therefore rather than request an air 

quality assessment at this stage which could be over precautionary and restrictive, 

Tudalen17



 

 

Environmental Health are recommending that the assessment is made for the 

specific use to give a better understanding of any impact on local air quality.  As 

such, we are recommending that all units are restricted to B1 (Business/Light 

Industry) until such time it has been demonstrated that the proposed B2/B8 use 

would not detrimentally impact the air quality and thereby undo any of the current 

work to improve air quality.   

The application seeks planning permission for new industrial units. The Town & 

Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended) sets out the following 

description for industrial uses: 

 

B1 (Business/Light Industry) comprising B1(a) Offices, B1(b) Research & 

Development, and B1(c) Any industrial process which can be carried out in a 

residential area without causing detriment to the amenity of the area by reason of 

noise, vibration, smell, fumes, smoke, soot, ash, dust or grit; 

B2 (General Industry) comprising industrial processes other than those falling within 

Class B1 (excluding incineration, chemical treatment, landfill or hazardous waste); 

and  

B8 (Storage & Distribution) (excluding radioactive material) 

In other words, B1 are generally ‘cleaner’ business uses such as offices or light 

industrial processes that do not generate noise, dust or smell, whereas B2 are 

generally dirtier and/or noisier business operations/processes that can lead to noise, 

odour and amenity complaints. B8 uses are generally reliant upon large and often 

heavy goods vehicles.  It is possible to change from B2 and B8 uses to a B1 use 

without the need for express planning permission but it is not possible to change 

from a B1 use to a B2 use (B8 is subject to floorspace area).  This way, 

dirtier/noisier B2 businesses can change to cleaner B1 businesses without the need 

to make a planning application, but cleaner B1 businesses cannot change to 

dirtier/noisier B2 businesses unless a planning application is submitted and 

approved. 

As the end users of the proposed new units is not yet known – it being a speculative 

development which seeks maximum flexibility for uses - it is not clear how many 

units will be occupied by each use class, which in turn brings uncertainty over the air 

quality impact of the development.  Given the investment that has already been 

undertaken to improve air quality in this area, it is considered be a retrograde step to 

allow polluting new industries to undermine the progress that has been made to 

date.  Further air quality monitoring and a precautionary approach is therefore 

necessary to ensure the development can be accommodated here without 

exacerbating existing poor air quality. To allow an industrial development to proceed 

whilst mitigating the potential harm it may cause, it is therefore recommended that an 

air quality assessment is undertaken which measures the emissions from the 

proposed end users. To this end, it is recommended that use of the units be 

Tudalen18



 

 

restricted to the ‘cleaner’ B1 uses only unless and until an air quality report has been 

submitted that demonstrates that B2 and/or B8 can be accommodated without 

adversely impacting upon air quality, e.g. by considering the level of particulates and 

the type of plant/equipment that will be used at the site.  A satisfactory air quality 

impact report would then allow B2 and B8 uses to be carried out. Given the 

‘permitted development rights’ that exist for industrial developments, it is also 

necessary to impose a condition requiring any associated extraction/plant/machinery 

to be subject to a planning application so that the impact of these on air quality can 

be monitored and controlled.  The Council’s Environmental Health Officer raises no 

objection to the application on this basis. 

 

A noise survey, prepared in support of the previous residential application (a use 

deemed to be a more sensitive receptor to noise) is included to demonstrate any 

potential noise issues for the commercial proposal can be mitigated by standard 

construction methods. LDP Policy EN8 states that ‘potentially noisy proposals should 

not be located close to sensitive uses (such as hospitals, schools and housing) and 

new noise-sensitive developments should not be located near to existing noisy uses 

(including industry and existing or proposed transport infrastructure) unless it can be 

shown that adverse effects can be dealt with through mitigation measures 

incorporated into the design’. By designing the units in an internally facing 

arrangement, it both helps to shield the site from external noise and creates a natural 

buffer to any noise made on site to residential receptors beyond the site 

boundary.  As the end user(s) of each of the 15 units is unknown at this stage, a 

condition requiring further noise survey(s) of those units (1-3) closest to existing 

residential properties on the western end of the site is recommended, to ensure 

there is no detriment to their residential amenity. 

 
 
Flood Risk / Canal Safety 
 
The application is supported by a Flood Consequences Assessment (FCA) 
commissioned in December 2022, which includes updated policy and modelling for 
an industrial/commercial development and updated site levels.  
 
The site falls within Zone C1 of NRW’s Development Advice Map (‘DAM’). Zone C1 
describes areas of the floodplain served by significant flood defence infrastructure. 
However the site is mainly located in Flood Zone 3 in the new Flood Map for 
Planning (‘FMfP’). Flood Zone 3 (areas of higher risk) represents areas which have a 
greater than 1 in 100 (1%) chance of flooding in a given year with a consideration of 
climate change impacts. Localised parts of the site fall into Flood Zone 2 
(undefended areas of low risk) which represents areas which have a less than 1 in 
100 (1%) but greater than 1 in 1000 (0.1%) chance of flooding in a given year, 
including an allowance for climate change. Therefore the site is at risk of flooding. 
  
A residential development in nature is classified as ‘highly vulnerable development’ 
as defined in TAN-15 whereas an industrial development as proposed, is considered 

Tudalen19



 

 

‘less vulnerable’ and the latter is permitted within areas of risk of flooding, subject to 
the application of a justification test, including acceptability of consequences. The 
flood-risk element is considered to be an additional reason for promoting an 
industrial development over a more vulnerable residential development of this site, 
as bringing forward a housing development in an area of risk of flooding is both 
undesirable and at contrary to TAN 15 requirements. 
 
The justification tests are set out in Section 6.2 of TAN 15 which states that: 
 
“Development, including transport infrastructure, will only be justified [in areas of risk 
of flooding] if it can be demonstrated that:-  
i. Its location in zone C is necessary to assist, or be part of, a local authority 
regeneration initiative or a local authority strategy required to sustain an existing 
settlement; or  
ii Its location in zone C is necessary to contribute to key employment objectives 
supported by the local authority, and other key partners, to sustain an existing 
settlement or region; and  
iii It concurs with the aims of PPW and meets the definition of previously developed 
land; and 
iv The potential consequences of a flooding event for the particular type of 
development have been considered, and in terms of the criteria contained in sections 
5 and 7 and appendix 1 found to be acceptable.” 
 
In this particular case, given that there is a shortage of suitable industrial premises, 
particularly for start-up businesses and SMEs, within the County Borough, it is 
considered that the provision of these units will contribute to maintaining and 
enhancing local employment opportunities within the Pontardawe area, which in turn 
is beneficial to the maintenance of economically active members of the population 
(see also the positive impact on Welsh Language, below). The development will 
therefore help to sustain the existing settlement and accords with criteria 6.2.ii. 
 
Criteria 6.2.iii is also met as this is a brownfield site, sustainably located close to an 
existing Town Centre and with active travel links to the Town Centre provided as part 
of the development. 
 
In order to comply with criteria 6.2.iv, the application is accompanied by a Flood 
Consequences Assessment. NRW have identified some concerns with the 
conclusions contained within submitted FCA, particularly predicted flood depths 
exceeding the limits recommended within paragraphs A1.14 and A1.15 of TAN 15. 
NRW advise that whilst the majority of the site is within tolerable conditions, with 
flood depths predicted to a maximum of 1.2m AOD along the boundary of Old 
Foundry Road and 1.7m without raising floor levels, the proposal does not comply 
with A1.15. 
 
However, NRW have not objected to the application and consider it for the local 
planning authority to determine whether the risks and consequences can be 
managed to an acceptable level. This requires flood resilient design to the 
construction of all the buildings, including a finished floor level of 33.95m Above 
Ordnance Datum (which is higher than the 32.8m AOD figure suggested in the FCA 
but which also takes into account modelling in the event of a canal breach, see 
below). These requirements will need to be secured through conditions in order to 
manage the risk to an acceptable level and comply with TAN 15 requirements. It is 

Tudalen20



 

 

noted that the main access and egress to the development floods in all flood event 
scenarios, however, access routes along Holly Street to the north of the 
development remain operational during all conditions which with the new active 
travel connection provides a viable means of escape for future occupiers of the new 
units. 
 
An additional source of flood risk in this case derives from the site’s proximity to the 
Swansea Canal, which has a past (in 1998) incident of flooding not very far from this 
site. The development is bounded along its north-western side by an embankment 
supporting the Swansea Canal, a key transport corridor and historic asset that is 
afforded protection by the LDP Policy BE3. Engineering work on or near to the canal 
embankment there has to be carefully considered to ensure it does not undermine 
the structural integrity of the embankment which in turn could lead to leakage and 
subsequent breach of the canal waters. 
 
From the base of the canal embankment the site is generally level with some shallow 
bunded spoil heaps. The rear of the development is proposed to be bounded by the 
side elevation of Units 1 and 12 and the rear of Units 4-11. The side elevation of Unit 
1, adjacent to the historic foundry access onto Holly Street, at the western end of the 
site, and south of Holly Street and the bridge abutment of the road bridge spanning 
over the canal. As such, it is beyond the influence of the canal and adjacent 
embankment. Some changes in level and retaining walls will be required in this area 
to provide the proposed pedestrian/cycle access from the development onto Holly 
Street and the town centre and beyond. The side elevation of Unit 12 is within a 
shallow spoil heap area with a level between 32.4m and 32.9m for a zone of 6m 
between the proposed building and the base of the canal embankment, which itself 
is typically between 32.88m and 33.18m in this area, where there is an existing 
freestanding wall. As such, the proposed development is beyond the influence of the 
canal and adjacent embankment. 
 
The rear elevation of Units 4-11 are parallel with the bank of the canal, which is 
typically 14m to 16m from the units. The units will have a 1.5m access zone to the 
rear for construction and long-term maintenance. The scenario on site is a level area 
adjacent to the canal followed by a boundary wall or steep slope, historic concrete 
access road from the foundry to Holly Street and a steep slope into the development 
site. The proposed development would require a retaining wall to the rear of the 
1.5m maintenance zone to the rear of Units 4-8, of up to 1.3m. The theoretical line 
from the canal bank to the 1.5m access zone (set at 32.45m), would result in a 1 in 
2.7 slope which is within the generally accepted gradients, and be the theoretical 
case during the retaining wall construction phase. Supplementary to the initial 
assessment above, further consideration and assessment will be undertaken during 
detailed design relating to the canal and the existing embankment, for both 
construction stage and the proposed permanent works.  
 
The Canal & River Trust, who are responsible for the management of Swansea 
Canal, have accepted that the proposed industrial/commercial land use gives less 
cause for concern than the previous application for a residential development of the 
land, both in terms of the sensitivity of the end use and the extent of engineering 
work required.  They have requested further investigation of the slope stability and 
long term maintenance and management of the embankment, both of which can be 
secured by imposing pre-commencement planning conditions. 
 

Tudalen21



 

 

Welsh Language 
 
LDP Policy WL1 establishes that industrial and commercial development proposals 
exceeding 1000sqm within identified language sensitive areas will be required to 
submit a Language Action Plan, setting out the measures to be taken to protect, 
promote and enhance the Welsh language.  The application is accompanied by a 
Language Action Plan which states that, due to the ‘start-up’ target occupiers, it is 
anticipated that the new industrial units would be occupied/staffed by people local to 
the Pontardawe area and there would therefore be a mix of English and Welsh 
speaking staff. Given this and in line with the expectations of policy at the local level, 
the aim to encourage the use of the Welsh language in the workplace and in 
interactions with customers, the public and other employees, including signposting 
new occupiers to the various established Welsh language groups and events that 
exits in the locality. It is also suggested that naming the new development in Welsh, 
e.g. Parc Hen Ffordd Ffowndri, would be a tangible way in which the scheme could 
support the language openly as well as in terms of creating a Welsh sense of place 
for the development. This can be secured by condition. 
 
In conclusion, it is considered that the proposed development will provide a range 
and choice of new commercial units in a location already active for that purpose. It 
will as a result, offer the opportunity for retention and enhancement of local 
employment opportunities, which in turn will help retain local Welsh speakers in the 
area, thereby supporting and sustaining the economic and social viability of local 
facilities and services, including Welsh language and culture. It is therefore 
considered that the proposed development will not adversely impact upon the 
linguistic character of the Pontardawe community. 
 
Section 106 Planning Obligations  
 
Local Development Plan Policy SP4 (Infrastructure) states that “Developments will 
be expected to make efficient use of existing infrastructure and where required make 
adequate provision for new infrastructure, ensuring that there are no detrimental 
effects on the area and community. Where necessary, Planning Obligations will be 
sought to ensure that the effects of developments are fully addressed in order to 
make the development acceptable”. 
 
In view of the type and form of development proposed in this location, having regard 
to local circumstances and needs arising from the development, no planning 
obligations are considered necessary to make the development acceptable in 
planning terms and to meet the policy and legislative tests for planning obligations. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Local water and gas utility companies have identified underground assets in the 
vicinity of the application site which will require further investigation by the developer 
prior to commencement of any works. However the location of these assets do not 
appear to be on or near any proposed buildings therefore an advisory note to remind 
the developer of their separate obligations in this regard is considered to be 
sufficient. 
 
GGAT have advised that, notwithstanding the historic significance of the site, the 
construction and subsequent demolition of the foundry means that the ground has 

Tudalen22



 

 

already been disturbed. Therefore they consider it unlikely that the proposals for the 
application site will encounter any significant archaeological features. 
 
The submitted Renewable Energy Assessment – required by LDP Policy RE2 – 
concludes that a combination of solar PV and air source heat pumps (‘ASHPs’) are 
likely to be the most viable low or zero carbon (‘LZC’) systems to use based on the 
characteristics of the site in addition to their cost effectiveness for the carbon savings 
they provide. These LZC benefits can be secured by condition. 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
The decision to recommend planning permission has been taken in accordance with 
Section 38 of The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which requires that, 
in determining a planning application the determination must be in accordance with 
the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  The 
Development Plan comprises Future Wales - the National Plan 2040 and the Neath 
Port Talbot Local Development Plan (2011-2026) adopted January 2016. 
 
It is considered that the development proposal represents an appropriate form of 
development that would have no unacceptable impact on the character and 
appearance of the area, residential amenity, highway and pedestrian safety, 
environmental factors, ecology, Swansea Canal or the Welsh Language. 
Accordingly, whilst the development fails to accord with Policy H1/LB/32, in all other 
respects the proposed development is in accordance with Policies SC1, EN6, EN7, 
EN8, RE2, TR2, BE1, BE3 and WL1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development 
Plan. 
 
It is further considered that the decision complies with Future Wales - the National 
Plan 2040 and the Council's well-being objectives and the sustainable development 
principle in accordance with the requirements of the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 
 
 
Recommendation – Approval, Subject to conditions.  
 
Conditions:-  
 
Time Limit Conditions 
 
 1 The development shall begin no later than five years from the date of this 

decision.  
  
 Reason:  
 To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990. 
 
List of Approved Plans 
 
 2 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

approved plans and documents:  
  
 Drawing no. 1618:PL1-04 Revision B - Proposed Site Plan 

Tudalen23



 

 

 1618:PL1 05 - Proposed Block/Layout Plans 
 1618:PL1-08 - Site Sections 
 1618:PL1-06 - Proposed Elevations (sheet 1) 
 1618:PL1-07 - Proposed Elevations (sheet 2) 
 P:14834_900 Rev.04 - Vehicle Tracking 
 P:14834/C700 Rev.03 - Vehicle and Pedestrian Site Access Scheme 
 P:14834_510_Rev.02 - Drainage Concept Plan 
 1618:PL1 03 -Existing Site Topo Plan 
 Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (January 2023) 
 Planning Statement (JPW1985 1 - 24 March 2023) 
 1618-PAC:DAS -Design & Access Statement 
 Pre-Application Consultation (PAC) Report (JPW1985 1 - 24 March 2023) 
 1618:PL:CEMP - Construction Environmental Management Plan 
 Arboricultural Report (21st July 2019) 
 Flood Consequence Assessment (February 2023) 
 Noise Impact Assessment (Reference: 10286/BL) 
 Renewable Energy Assessment (June 2023) 
 Welsh Language Action Plan (May 2023) 
 Air Quality Compendium (May 2023) 
 Site Investigation Report (12360/RAH/19/SI) 
 1618-PL1-02 - Analysis Plan 
 1618-PL1-01 - Site Location Plan 
  
 Reason:  
 In the interests of clarity. 
 
Pre-Commencement Conditions 
 
 3 Prior to the erection of any external lighting, a lighting scheme for the site 

(including lux contour and mitigation to prevent light spillage onto foraging 
habitats and the adjacent canal corridor) has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority and any lighting shall be implemented 
as approved. The scheme shall incorporate best practice guidance to ensure 
the retention of dark corridors for the movement of bats with no direct lighting of 
vegetation. 

  
 Reason:  
 To ensure that animal and plant species and habitats listed under the 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 are adequately 
protected;, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP15 and EN6 of the Neath 
Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
 4 Details of a scheme showing integral bat and bird boxes as recommended in 

Review of PEA, Land at Old Foundry Road, Pontardawe. Hawkeswood Ecology 
-January 2023 shall be submitted to and approved in writing by  the Local 
Planning Authority prior to development commencing and thereafter installed in 
accordance with the approved details prior to occupation of the units. The 
integral bat and bird boxes shall thereafter be retained as part of the 
development in perpetuity. 

  
 Reason: 

Tudalen24



 

 

 In the interest of biodiversity, and to mitigate to loss of foraging habitats and to 
accord with Policy SP15 of the adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development 
Plan. 

  
 
 5 As recommended in Review of PEA, Land at Old Foundry Road, Pontardawe. 

Hawkeswood Ecology -January 2023, gaps must be created in any fencing 
proposed on site if it would act as a barrier for hedgehogs or other small 
mammals to commute/forage in the area. Details of this provision shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval pursuant to condition 25 
of this planning permission prior to the installation of any fencing and 
implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to occupation of the 
units. 

  
 Reason: 
 In the interests of biodiversity, and to maintain habitat and corridors in 

accordance with Policy EN7 of the adopted Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan. 

 
 6 Prior to the commencement of development, a detailed scheme and method 

statement for the treatment and disposal of soils affected by any invasive 
non-native plant species listed on Schedule 9 of the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981 (as amended) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Such a scheme shall be in accordance with current 
best practice. Thereafter the development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved scheme. 

  
 Reason:  
 In the interests of amenity, and to ensure that the treatment is carried out in 

accordance with recognised good practice and to accord with Policy SP15 of 
the adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
 7 No development or site clearance shall take place until there has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority a scheme 
of landscaping. The scheme shall include indications of all existing trees 
(including spread and species) and hedgerows on the land, identify those to be 
retained and set out measures for their protection throughout the course of 
development.  

  
 All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping 

shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the 
occupation of the buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is 
the sooner; and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the 
completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged 
or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar 
size and species. 

  
 Reason:  
 In the interests of maintaining a suitable scheme of landscaping to protect the 

visual amenity of the area, to maintain the special qualities of the landscape 
and habitats through the protection, creation and enhancement of links 
between sites and their protection for amenity, landscape and biodiversity 

Tudalen25



 

 

value, and to ensure the development complies with Policies SP15 and BE1 of 
the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
 8 Prior to the first occupation of any unit hereby approved, a landscaping 

management plan, including long term design objectives, management 
responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all landscaped areas, shall have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
landscape management plan shall be implemented and adhered to in 
accordance with the approved details thereafter. 

  
 Reason: 
 In the interest of visual amenity, and to ensure the long term management and 

maintenance of all landscaped areas that lie outside of the curtilage of 
individual units, and to ensure the development complies with Policies SP15 
and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

  
 
 9 No development shall take place, nor any demolition works or site clearance, 

until there has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority details of a scheme for the protection of the trees/scrub on the canal 
bank shown to be retained in the Review of PEA, Land at Old Foundry Road, 
Pontardawe. Hawkeswood Ecology -January 2023 and the drawings hereby 
approved. The approved protection scheme shall include an appropriate buffer 
to protect root protection zones which must be protected by the erection of 
suitable protective fencing. 

  
 The fencing shall be erected in accordance with the approved details before 

any equipment, machinery or materials are brought onto the site for the 
purposes of the development, and shall be maintained until all equipment, 
machinery and surplus materials have been removed from the site. Nothing 
shall be stored or placed within any fenced area, and the ground levels within 
those areas shall not be altered, nor shall any excavation be made, without the 
prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 Reason: 
 To ensure all existing trees/scrub are protected throughout the construction of 

the development, in the interest of visual amenity, and to ensure the 
development complies with Policies BE1 and BE3 of the Adopted Neath Port 
Talbot Local Development Plan. 

  
  
 
10 Prior to the commencement of any development a further check and 

consideration for the presence of Otters within or immediately adjacent to the 
site shall be undertaken by a suitably qualified ecologist and the findings 
reported to the Local Planning Authority. If Otters are discovered NRW should 
be contacted immediately as a licence may be required to continue with the 
works. 

  
 Reason: 
 To ensure conservation of protected species and their habitats, and to accord 

with Policy SP15 of the adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

Tudalen26



 

 

 
11 No development shall commence on site until an assessment of the nature and 

extent of contamination affecting the application site area has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This assessment 
must be carried out by or under the direction of a suitably qualified competent 
person in accordance with BS10175 (2011) 'Investigation of Potentially 
Contaminated Sites Code of Practice' and shall assess any contamination on 
the site, whether or not it originates on the site. The report of the findings shall 
include: 

  
 (i) a desk top study to identify all previous uses at the site and potential 

contaminants associated with those uses and the impacts from those 
contaminants on land and controlled waters. The desk study shall establish a 
'conceptual site model' (CSM) which identifies and assesses all identified 
potential source, pathway, and receptor linkages; 

 (ii) an intrusive investigation to assess the extent, scale and nature of 
contamination which may be present, if identified as required by the desk top 
study; 

 (iii) an assessment of the potential risks to: 
 -  human health, 
 -  groundwater and surface waters 
 -  adjoining land, 
 -  property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, 

woodland and service lines and pipes,-  ecological systems, 
 -  archaeological sites and ancient monuments; and 
 -  any other receptors identified at (i) 
 (iv) an appraisal of remedial options, and justification for the preferred remedial 

option(s). 
  
 Reason: 
 To ensure that information provided for the assessment of the risks from land 

contamination to the future users of the land, neighbouring land, controlled 
waters, property and ecological systems is sufficient to enable a proper 
assessment, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the 
Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
12 No development shall commence on site until a remediation scheme to bring 

the site to a condition suitable for the intended use by removing any 
unacceptable risks to human health, buildings, other property and the natural 
and historic environment shall be prepared and submitted to and approved in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include all works to 
be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives, remediation criteria and site 
management procedures. The measures proposed within the remediation 
scheme shall be implemented in accordance with an agreed programme of 
works.  

  
 Reason:  
 To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 

neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other 

Tudalen27



 

 

offsite receptors, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the 
Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
13 Prior to commencement of development, details of the proposed excavations, 

earth movement removal and foundations, including risk assessments and 
methodology to be undertaken shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. Development shall thereafter only proceed in 
accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason: 
 To ensure no adverse impact on the integrity of the canal and in order to 

comply with Policies EN8 and BE3 of the Adopted Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan. 

 
14 Prior to commencement of development, details of the proposed protective 

fencing to be erected to safeguard the waterway infrastructure during 
construction works shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Development shall thereafter only proceed in accordance 
with the approved details. 

  
 Reason: 
 To ensure no adverse impact on the integrity of the canal and in order to 

comply with Policies EN8 and BE3 of the Adopted Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan. 

 
15 Notwithstanding any other details which may be given in the plans hereby 

approved, details of all existing and proposed ground levels, including 
cross-sections from the canal to road level through blocks 4-11 and 12-15 shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to 
the commencement of development. The development shall thereafter only 
proceed in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason: 
 To ensure no adverse impact on the integrity of the canal and in order to 

comply with Policies EN8 and BE3 of the Adopted Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan. 

 
16 Prior to the occupation of Units 1-3, an updated Noise Assessment shall be 

undertaken, the methodology for which shall be first submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to construction of these units and 
which measures the noise output from the intended business occupier(s). The 
assessment shall include details of how the units can be constructed / adapted 
so as to provide sound insulation against internally generated noise to protect 
the residential amenity of neighbouring properties. The noise levels shall be 
determined at the nearest noise-sensitive premises or at another location that is 
deemed suitable by the Local Planning Authority. Measurements and 
assessments shall be made in accordance with BS 4142:2014 Method for 
rating and assessing industrial and commercial sound. The sound insulation 
and attenuation works shall be completed as approved before the use of the 
building begins and thereafter retained as such in perpetuity. 

  
 Reason:  

Tudalen28



 

 

 To ensure that the amenities of occupiers of residential properties in the vicinity 
are protected, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16, EN8 and BE1 of 
the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
17 Notwithstanding any other materials details which may be given in the plans 

hereby approved, prior to their use in the construction of the development, 
samples of the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces 
of the development hereby permitted shall be submitted, including sample 
panels of the external materials provided, for the written approval the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 

  
 Reason: 
 In the interest of the visual amenity of the area and to ensure the development 

complies with Policy BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
 
18 No development shall commence until a drainage scheme for the site has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
scheme shall provide for the disposal of foul water. Thereafter the scheme shall 
be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation 
of the development and no further foul water shall be allowed to connect 
directly or indirectly with the public sewerage system. 

  
 Reason: To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to 

protect the health and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or 
detriment to the environment. 

 
19 Before beginning any development at the site, you must do the following: - 
 a) Notify the Local Planning Authority in writing that you intend to commence 

development by submitting a Formal Notice under Article 24B of the Town and 
Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012 
(DMPWO) in the form set out in Schedule 5A (a newly inserted Schedule) of 
the DMPWO (or in a form substantially to the like effect); and  

   
 b) Display a Site Notice (as required by Section 71ZB of the 1990 Act) in the 

form set out in Schedule 5B (a newly inserted Schedule) of the DMPWO (or in 
a form substantially to the like effect), such Notice to be firmly affixed and 
displayed in a prominent place, be legible and easily visible, and be printed on 
durable material. Such Notice must thereafter be displayed at all times when 
development is being carried out.  

  
 Reason:  
 To comply with procedural requirements in accordance with Article 24B of the 

Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Wales) 
Order 2012 (DMPWO) and Section 71ZB of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 

  
 NOTE: Templates of the required Notice and Site Notice are available to 

download at www.npt.gov.uk/planning 
 

Tudalen29



 

 

20 Notwithstanding any other details which may be given in the plans hereby 
approved, a scheme indicating the positions, height, design, materials and type 
of all boundary treatment(s) to be erected shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of 
development.  The scheme shall accord with the requirements of condition 5 of 
this permission and any gates fronting onto the highway shall be of a type 
which open inwards only and can be seen through.The boundary treatment(s) 
shall be completed, as approved, prior to the first beneficial occupation of the 
units and thereafter retained as such in perpetuity. 

  
 Reason:   
 In the interest of visual amenity and to ensure compliance with Policy BE1 of 

the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
 
21 Prior to development commencing on site, details of the proposed 

refuse/recycling arrangements for the development shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, which shall include whether 
it will be a private contractor or Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council's 
Kerbside Refuse and  Recycling Scheme.  If the local authority's service is to 
be used then provision must be made for the storage and location of the refuse 
/recycling receptacles directly adjacent to the public highway and details of this 
included in the submission.  Alternatively, if a private contractor is to be used 
then the proposed locations of the bin store along with a swept path analysis of 
the contractors' vehicle accessing the site shall be included in the submission. 

  
 Reason: 
 To ensure the provision of satisfactory refuse/recycling services, in the interests 

of amenity and highway safety and to accord with Policies BE1 and W3 of the 
Adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
22 Notwithstanding any other details which may be given in the plans hereby 

approved, prior to commencement of development the following details shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 

  
 - Construction details for the internal access routes; and 
 - A scheme for replacing the proposed stepped pedestrian access with a 

ramped access, including retaining works, gradient and surfacing  
  
 The details as approved shall be implemented in their entirety prior to first 

beneficial occupation of the development and thereafter retained as such in 
perpetuity.  

  
 Reason: 
 To promote sustainable active travel, in the interest of highway safety and to 

ensure the development complies with Policies SP20, BE1 and TR2 of the 
Adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
Action Conditions 
 
23 All turning and manoeuvring facilities as annotated on drawing No.14834_900 

R04 hereby approved shall be kept free of any vehicles to enable all vehicles 
facilitating the development to enter and egress from the site in a forward gear. 

Tudalen30



 

 

  
 Reason:  
 In the interest of highway safety and to ensure the development complies with 

Policies BE1 and TR2 of the Adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development 
Plan. 

 
24 Prior to occupation of any of the units, secure cycle parking shall be provided 

on site in accordance with the plans hereby approved and thereafter retained 
for use as such in perpetuity. 

  
 Reason:  
 To promote sustainable active travel, in the interests of highway safety and the 

well-being of future occupiers of the site and to ensure the development 
complies with Policies SP20, BE1 and TR2 of the Adopted Neath Port Talbot 
Local Development Plan. 

 
25 Prior to the beneficial occupation of any unit, that unit shall be provided with 3 

no. on-plot parking spaces, including electric vehicle charging capacity, in 
accordance with the site layout plan hereby approved. These parking spaces 
shall be surfaced in a porous or permeable material, to a maximum gradient of 
1 in 9 in order to control surface water. Thereafter these spaces shall be used 
solely for the parking of vehicles associated with the occupation of the unit to 
which they form part and their visitors and for no other purpose and shall be 
permanently retained as such. 

  
 Reason:  
 In the interest of highway safety and to ensure the development complies with 

Policies BE1 and TR2 of the Adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development 
Plan. 

 
26 Prior to the first beneficial occupation of the development hereby permitted, 

2.4m x 90m visibility splays shall be provided in either direction at the point of 
access to the site which shall thereafter be maintained free of any obstruction 
exceeding 0.6m in height for as long as the development exists.  

  
 Reason:  
 In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety and to ensure the development 

complies with Policy TR2 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
 
27 Prior to beneficial use of the proposed development commencing, a verification 

report which demonstrates the effectiveness of the agreed remediation works 
carried out in accordance with condition 12 shall have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

   
 Reason:  
 To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 

neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other 
offsite receptors and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the 
Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 

Tudalen31



 

 

28 In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified, work on site shall 
cease immediately and shall be reported in writing to the Local Planning 
Authority. A Desk Study, Site Investigation, Risk Assessment and where 
necessary a Remediation Strategy must be undertaken in accordance with the 
following document:- Land Contamination: A Guide for Developers (WLGA, 
WAG & EAW, July 2006). This document shall be submitted to and agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority. Prior to occupation of the 
development, a verification report which demonstrates the effectiveness of the 
agreed remediation, shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority.  

    
 Reason:  
 To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 

neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other 
off site receptors, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16 and EN8 of the 
Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
29 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the recommendations 

in the 'Old Foundry Road Flood Consequence Assessment' hereby approved.  
Notwithstanding any other details which may be given in the FCA and/or plans 
hereby approved, the units shall have a flood resilient design to a minimum 
level of 33.4m AOD and a minimum finished floor level of 33.95m AOD. 

  
 Reason: 
 To minimise and manage the risk of flooding to an acceptable level. 
 
30 The development hereby approved shall be carried out strictly in accordance 

with the recommendations of the 'Old Foundry Road Welsh Language Action 
Plan' hereby approved. For the avoidance of doubt this recommends that 
occupiers take positive steps to: 

  
 - encourage the use of the Welsh Language in the workplace and in 

interactions with customers, the general public and other employees; - signpost 
occupiers to existing Welsh Language groups and events in the local area; and 

 - name the overall development in the Welsh Language, e.g. Parc Hen Ffordd 
Ffowndri  

  
 Reason: 
 To preserve the historic and cultural heritage of the Welsh Language in the 

local area and to comply with Policies SP21, SP22 and WL1 of the Adopted 
Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
31 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the conclusions of the 

'Renewable Energy Assessment' hereby approved. For the avoidance of doubt 
this confirms that the site/development is suitable for Solar PV and Air Source 
Heat Pumps to be used as effective Low and Zero Carbon Technologies within 
the scheme. Construction and specification details of these LZCs shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to 
their installation and the development shall thereafter only be carried out in 

Tudalen32



 

 

accordance with the approved details. The approved LZCs must be installed 
prior to occupation of the units and thereafter retained as part of the 
development in perpetuity. 

  
 Reason: 
 To enable the development to make a positive contribution towards increased 

energy generation from renewable and low carbon sources, in the interests of 
protecting the environment and amenity of the local area and to comply with 
Policies SP18 and RE2 of the Adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development 
Plan. 

 
32 Prior to occupation of any of the units, gigabit capable broadband infrastructure 

from the site boundary to the units hereby permitted  shall be provided on site 
in accordance with the plans hereby approved and thereafter retained as part of 
the development in perpetuity. 

  
 Reason:  
 To support the roll-out of digital communications infrastructure and to comply 

with Policy 13 of Future Wales: The National Plan 2040. 
 
Regulatory Conditions 
 
33 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Use 

Classes) Order 1987 (as amended for Wales)(or any order revoking and 
re-enacting that Order with or without modification), use of the units hereby 
approved shall be restricted to B1 only with no B2 or B8 uses permitted unless 
and until the following has first been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority, prior to the commencement of any B2 or B8 uses: 

  
 - an updated Air Quality Assessment to identify potential air pollution sources, 

the methodology for which shall be first agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the Assessment being undertaken; 

 - a description of baseline conditions and any air quality concerns affecting the 
area, and how these could change both with and without the proposed B2 and 
B8 uses; 

 - the assessment methods to be adopted and any requirements for the 
verification of modelling air quality; 

 - acceptable mitigation measures to reduce or remove adverse effects; and 
 - measures that could deliver improved air quality. 
   
 Development of any B2 and B8 uses shall thereafter only proceed in 

accordance with the approved details. 
  
 Reason: 
 To ensure that the amenities of occupiers of properties in the vicinity are 

protected from further erosion of air quality in this area, and to ensure 
compliance with Policies SP16, EN8 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan. 

  
34 Notwithstanding the provisions of Class A of Part 2 of Schedule 2 of the Town 

and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as 
amended for Wales) (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 

Tudalen33



 

 

without modification), unless expressly granted by condition 20 of this 
permission, no further fences, gates or walls or other means of enclosure shall 
be erected around the perimeter of the site or within or around the curtilage of 
any individual unit without the prior, express planning permission of the Local 
Planning Authority. 

  
 Reason:  
 In order to safeguard the visual amenity of the area and highway safety by 

enabling the Local Planning Authority to consider whether planning permission 
should be granted for such enclosures having regard to the particular layout 
and design of the development, and to accord with Policies BE1, TR2 and SC1 
of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
35 Notwithstanding the provisions of Class B of Part 8 of Schedule 2 of the Town 

and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as 
amended for Wales) (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 
without modification) no external extraction equipment, plant or machinery shall 
be installed on the site/units without the prior express grant of planning 
permission from the Local Planning Authority.   

  
 Reason:   
 In the interests of local amenity, and to ensure compliance with Policies SP16, 

EN8 and BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
 
36 The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the 

Construction Environmental Management Plan (1618:PL:CEMP) hereby 
approved. 

  
 Reason: 
 In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety, the environment, and to 

ensure accordance with Policies BE1, EN8 and TR2 of the Adopted Neath Port 
Talbot Local Development Plan. 

 
37 The means of vehicular access to the units/development hereby approved shall 

be from Old Foundry Road only, with pedestrian and/or bicycle access only 
permitted from Holly Street. 

  
 Reason:  
 In the interests of highway safety and the amenity of adjoining residential 

properties and to ensure the development complies with Policies BE1 and TR2 
of the Adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

  
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    
 

 
 
 

Tudalen34



 

 

 
SECTION A – MATTERS FOR DECISION 
 
Planning Applications Recommended For Approval 

 

APPLICATION NO: P2023/0480 DATE: 03/07/2023 

PROPOSAL:  
Proposed raised decking area to rear of property, with associated privacy screening 

LOCATION:  
6 Cardonnel Road, Skewen, Neath, Neath Port Talbot, SA10 6DE  

APPLICANT: 
Mrs Angharad Aubrey  

TYPE: 
Householder 

WARD: 
Coedffranc Central ED  

 
BACKGROUND 
 
This application is being brought before Committee as the applicant is an elected 
member of the Authority.  
 
SITE AND CONTEXT 
 
The application site is located at 6 Cardonnel Road, Skewen. The site comprises of a 
mid-terrace, two-storey dwellinghouse, which is set within a relatively densely 
populated area. The property benefits from a modest front garden, with a more 
generous garden area situated the rear. It should be noted that the rear garden area 
sits at a lower level than the main dwellinghouse, approximately 2.15m below the 
ground floor finished floor level of 6 Cardonnel Road, and is accessed from the 
property via an external set of steps. The aforementioned relationship is similar across 
the vast majority of the properties along this side of Cardonnel Road, including the two 
immediately adjoining properties on either side of the application site. The rear garden 
areas of the application property and 5 Cardonnel Road can also be accessed via an 
internal alleyway which serves both properties.  
 
The application site is bounded by residential dwellings to the north and south, with a 
rear access lane / public right of way to the east, and the residential road referred to 
as ‘Cardonnel Road’ to the west.  
 
DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT 
 
This is a full planning application proposing the construction of a raised decking area 
to the rear of the application property, with associated privacy screening.  
 
The raised decking area would wrap around the projected rear element of the main 
dwellinghouse, which would result in the development having an irregular footprint. 
Notwithstanding this, the decking would project out approximately 3m beyond the 
rearmost elevation of the main dwellinghouse, with a maximum depth of approximately 
5.85m at the point at which it wraps around the property. The structure would have a 
maximum width of approximately 4.8m, and would be set in approximately 55cm off 

Tudalen35

Eitem yr Agenda5



 

 

the boundary with 5 Cardonnel Road. The development would also be set in off the 
boundary with 7 Cardonnel Road by approximately 1m to enable the existing access 
steps leading down to the rear garden area to be retained.  
 
The platform element of the structure would sit approximately 2m above the existing 
ground level, and would be supported by a number of supporting pillars. A 1.8m high 
privacy screen constructed from close boarded panels would be installed on both sides 
of the raised decking area to preclude overlooking and loss of privacy. 
 
All plans / documents submitted in respect of this application can be viewed on the 
Council's online register  
 
NEGOTIATIONS 
 
The application initially only proposed a 1.8m high privacy screen on the side elevation 
adjacent to 5 Cardonnel Road. Prior to registration the applicants were asked to 
amend the proposal to also include a 1.8m high privacy screen on the side elevation 
adjacent to 7 Cardonnel Road, which they complied with.  
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
The application site has no relevant planning history.  
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Coedffranc Town Council – no response received.  
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The neighbouring properties were consulted via letter on the 3rd of July 2023. 
 
A site notice was also displayed on the 3rd of July 2023. 
 
In response, to date no representations have been received. 
 
REPORT 
 
The Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 places a duty on the Council 
to take reasonable steps in exercising its functions to meet its sustainable 
development (or wellbeing) objectives. This report has been prepared in consideration 
of the Council’s duty and the “sustainable development principle”, as set out in the 
2015 Act. In reaching the recommendation set out below, the Council has sought to 
ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs. 
 
National Planning Policy: 
 
Future Wales: The National Plan 2040 is the national development framework, 
setting the direction for development in Wales to 2040. The development plan sets out 
a strategy for addressing key national priorities through the planning system, including 
sustaining and developing a vibrant economy, achieving decarbonisation and climate 

Tudalen36

http://appsportal.npt.gov.uk/ords/idocs12/f?p=Planning:2:0::NO::P2_REFERENCE:P2023/0480
mailto:https://gov.wales/future-wales-national-plan-2040


 

 

resilience, developing strong ecosystems and improving the health and wellbeing of 
our communities. 
 
The following policies are of particular relevance to the assessment of this application: 
 
Policy 2 – Shaping Urban Growth and Regeneration – Strategic Placemaking. 
Policy 9 – Resilient Ecological Networks and Green Infrastructure. 
 
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11, February 2021) outlines the Welsh 
Government's commitment to the importance of 'places' and 'place-making', the 
importance of using previously developed land wherever possible in preference to 
greenfield sites, and the recognition of the health and wellbeing related benefits by 
creating a sense of place and improving social cohesion. PPW 11 confirms that the 
environmental components of places are intrinsically linked to the quality of the built 
and natural environment and contribute to the health and wellbeing of the people who 
live, work and play there. It emphasises the importance of creating sustainable 
communities and reducing reliance on the private car as part of a package of measures 
to reduce the country's carbon footprint and help tackle the climate emergency. 
 
The following is of particular relevance in the assessment of this planning application: 
 
Paragraph 6.4.2 – “The Environment (Wales) Act 2016 introduced an enhanced 
biodiversity and resilience of ecosystems duty (Section 6 Duty). This duty applies to 
public authorities in the exercise of their functions in relation to Wales and will help 
maximise contributions to achieving the well-being goals. The Nature Recovery Action 
Plan supports this legislative requirement to reverse the decline in biodiversity, 
address the underlying causes of biodiversity loss by putting nature at the heart of 
decision-making and increasing the resilience of ecosystems by taking specific action 
focused around the 6 objectives for habitats and species”. 
 
PPW 11 is supported by a series of more detailed Technical Advice Notes (TANs), of 
which the following are of relevance: - 
 

 Technical Advice Note (TAN) 12: Design (March 2016) 
 

Local Planning Policies 
 
The Local Development Plan for the area comprises the Neath Port Talbot Local 
Development Plan which was adopted in January 2016, and within which the following 
policies are of relevance: 
 
Strategic Policies: 
 

 Policy SP3        Sustainable Communities 

 Policy SP20       Transport Network 

 Policy SP21       Built Environment and Historic Heritage 
 
Topic Based Policies:  
 

 Policy SC1        Settlement Limits 

 Policy EN6        Important Biodiversity and Geodiversity Sites 

 Policy EN7        Important Natural Features 

Tudalen37

mailto:https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/planning-policy-wales-edition-11_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/technical-advice-notes
https://www.npt.gov.uk/7328
https://www.npt.gov.uk/7328


 

 

 Policy TR2        Design and Access of New Development 

 Policy BE1        Design 
 

Supplementary Planning Guidance: 
 
The following SPG is of relevance to this application: - 
 

 Design (July 2017) 
 
Issues 
 
Having regard to the above, the main issues to consider in this application relate to 
the impact on the visual amenity of the area, the amenities of neighbouring residents 
and highway safety. 
 
Impact on Visual Amenity 
 
The raised decking is proposed to be constructed from tantalised pine, which whilst 
not in keeping with the external finish of the application dwelling is not uncommon in 
a residential setting. The sympathetic scale and height of the proposed structure is 
considered to give the extension a subservient appearance, which would not dominate 
the rear elevation to which it adjoins. In light of this, due to its scale and design it is 
not considered that the proposed development would undermine the character and 
appearance of the application dwelling.  
 
Furthermore, the siting of the development to the rear of the application property 
dictates that it would be for the most part hidden from a public vantage point, and 
subsequently would not detract from the character and appearance of the streetscene 
when viewed from Cardonnel Road. Whilst it is acknowledged that views of the 
development may be possible from the public right of way which runs to the rear of the 
application site, given that a similar – albeit more visually obtrusive – form of 
development is present at 7 Cardonnel Road, it is not considered that the raised 
decking would appear at odds with the surrounding area. It should also be noted that 
any potential visual impact would be further diminished by the fact that the nearest 
point of the proposed development would be located approximately 38m away from 
the public right of way.  
 
In light of the aforementioned information, it is considered that the proposal would 
comply with Policy BE1 of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
 
Impact on Residential Amenity 
 
With regards to the property to the south, given that the proposed raised decking would 
not extend beyond the rear-most elevation of 7 Cardonnel Road, the majority of the 
development would be situated adjacent to either the blank or obscurely glazed side 
elevations of 7 Cardonnel Road, and as such it is not considered that any detrimental 
overbearing or overshadowing issues would arise. Whilst it is acknowledged that the 
development would be readily visible from the set of steps at 7 Cardonnel Road, used 
by the occupiers to access their lower garden area, given its stepped gradient this 
section of the site is considered less usable for recreational activities, and as such it 
is not considered that the potential impact of the development in this instance would 
be sufficient to justify a negative officer’s recommendation.  

Tudalen38

https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/7237/spg_design_july17.pdf


 

 

 
Turning to the property to the north, whilst it is acknowledged that 5 Cardonnel Road 
does not benefit from a similar natured development, consideration has been given to 
the scale of the proposed structure. The proposed decking would have a limited 
projection of just 3m beyond the rearmost elevation of 5 Cardonnel Road, and whilst 
the massing of the development is greater given the presence of the 1.8m high privacy 
screening, the overall height of the development is still considered to be sympathetic. 
Any potential overbearing or overshadowing impact is considered further diminished 
by the fact that the development would be set in off the boundary with 5 Cardonnel 
Road. Whilst the setback from the boundary line would be 55cm, the presence of the 
shared access alleyway dictates that the development would be sited approximately 
1.1m away from the nearest ‘usable’ space at 5 Cardonnel Road.  
 
In regards to privacy, the predominant outlook from the decking area would overlook 
the applicant’s rear garden area, and the proposed 1.8m high privacy screening on 
both sides of the raised decking is considered sufficient to ensure that no direct 
overlooking issues would arise. Whilst it is acknowledged that oblique views of the 
neighbouring property’s rear garden areas could be possible, given that this is 
something that occurs commonly within residential areas, it is not considered that the 
development would result in a significant overlooking impact or raise privacy issues, 
such that would justify a negative officer’s recommendation. Notwithstanding this, a 
condition would be attached to any given consent to ensure that the privacy screening 
is maintained and retained to a sufficient standard in order to prevent any potential 
privacy issues from arising in future.    
 
Provided the aforementioned condition is adhered to, it is not considered that the 
proposal would have a detrimental impact upon the occupiers of the neighbouring 
properties, and as such the development is considered to accord with Policy BE1 of 
the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan.    
 
Parking and Access Requirements and Impact on Highway Safety 
 
Given that the development will not displace any of the existing off road parking, it is 
not considered that the proposed extension will impact detrimentally upon pedestrian 
and highway safety. The proposal is therefore considered to accord with Policy TR2 
of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
 
Biodiversity / Ecology 
 
As identified above, Policies EN6 and EN7 of the Local Development Plan will be of 
relevance insofar as there is a need to ensure any impacts on biodiversity/ natural 
features are appropriately assessed and, where applicable, mitigated.   
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) 11 sets out that “planning authorities must seek to 
maintain and enhance biodiversity in the exercise of their functions. This means that 
development should not cause any significant loss of habitats or populations of 
species, locally or nationally and must provide a net benefit for biodiversity”. This policy 
and subsequent policies in Chapter 6 of PPW 11 respond to the Section 6 Duty of the 
Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 
 

Tudalen39



 

 

Biodiversity enhancement is necessary for all applications of development including 
householder development. In this case the development will provide a bird box, which 
would be secured by a suitably worded condition. 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
The decision to recommend planning permission has been taken in accordance with 
Section 38 of The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which requires that, 
in determining a planning application the determination must be in accordance with 
the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The 
Development Plan comprises Future Wales - the National Plan 2040 and the Neath 
Port Talbot Local Development Plan (2011–2026) adopted January 2016. 
 
It is considered that the proposal represents an appropriate form of development that 
would have no unacceptable impact on the amenities of neighbouring residents, visual 
amenity of the area or highway and pedestrian safety. Accordingly, the proposed 
development is in accordance with Policies BE1 (Design) and TR2 (Design and 
Access of New Development) of the Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
 
It is further considered that the decision complies with Future Wales - the National 
Plan 2040, specifically Policies 2 (Shaping Urban Growth and Regeneration – 
Strategic Placemaking) & 9 (Resilient Ecological Networks and Green Infrastructure). 
and the Council’s well-being objectives and the sustainable development principle in 
accordance with the requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) 
Act 2015. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Approval  
 
Subject to the following conditions/reasons, which have been imposed for the reasons 
stated:- 
 
Time Limit Conditions 

1. The development shall begin no later than five years from the date of this 
decision. 
 
Reason:  

To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990.  

List of Approved Plans 

2. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 

plans and documents: 

- Existing & Proposed Elevations & Proposed Plan View, received 03-JUL-2023. 
- Block & Location Plans, received 18-JUN-2023.  

 
Reason: 

In the interests of clarity.  

Tudalen40



 

 

Action Conditions 

3. Prior to the first beneficial use of the development hereby approved, a bird box 
shall be erected within the curtilage of the application site, and shall be retained 
as such thereafter.  
 
Reason: 
In the interests of Biodiversity and to provide a net benefit to Biodiversity in 
accordance with Policy 9 of Future Wales and so as to accord with Policy SP15 
of the adopted Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 
 

4. Prior to the first beneficial use of the development hereby approved, a 1.8m 
high close boarded fence shall be provided on both sides of the raised decking, 
for its entire depth, as shown on the ‘Existing & Proposed Elevations & 
Proposed Plan View’ drawing received 03-JUL-2023, and shall be retained as 
such thereafter.  
 
Reason: 
In the interests of privacy of the occupier and private amenity space of the 
neighbouring property, and to ensure compliance with Policy BE1 of the Neath 
Port Talbot Local Development Plan. 

Tudalen41



Mae’r dudalen hon yn fwriadol wag



SECTION B – MATTERS FOR INFORMATION 

APPEALS DETERMINED 

a) Planning Appeals 
 
Appeal Ref: A2023/0007 Planning Ref: P2022/0268 
 
PINS Ref: CAS-02377-C7R0S0 
 
Appellant: Mrs A White 
 

Proposal: Removal of existing structure and construct 
replacement two storey detached dwelling 

 

Site Address: Tor Y Graig Farm  Ty Llwyd Bryncoch SA10 7DX    
 
Appeal Method: Written Representations  
 
Decision Date: 25 July 2023 
 
Decision: Appeal Dismissed 
 
 Appeal Decision Letter 
 
__________________________________________________ 
 
Appeal Ref: A2023/0008 Planning Ref: P2022/0866 
 
PINS Ref: CAS-02575-F0P4H0 
 
Appellant: D Shepherd 
 

Proposal: Outline application (all matters reserved except 
access) for a 2 bed dwelling with associated 
garden and off road parking and new vehicular 
access 

 

Site Address: 45 Burrows Road Skewen Neath Neath Port 
Talbot SA10 6AE   

 
Appeal Method: Written Representations  

Tudalen43

Eitem yr Agenda6



 
Decision Date: 7 August 2023 
 
Decision: Appeal Dismissed 
 
 Appeal Decision Letter 
 
__________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen44



SECTION B – MATTERS FOR INFORMATION 

APPEALS RECEIVED 

a) Planning Appeals 
 
Appeal Ref: A2023/0016 Planning Ref: P2022/0990 
 
PINS Ref: CAS-02609-N7X0Q0 
 
Appellant: Miss Aimee Moran 
 

Proposal: 1 Number detached dwelling and detached 
garage and  creation of vehicular access 

 

Site Address: Land Rear Of  Heol Nedd Cwmgwrach Neath 
SA11 5PL   

 
Start Date: 25 July 2023  
 
Appeal Method: Written Representations  
__________________________________________________ 
 
Appeal Ref: A2023/0017 Planning Ref: P2023/0192 
 
PINS Ref: CAS-02858-J0X2K8 
 
Appellant: Mr Steven Hyett 
 

Proposal: Proposed single storey extension to existing 
outbuilding for home office/storage use 

 

Site Address: 3 Court Lane Pontardawe SA8 4JL     
 
Start Date: 9 August 2023  
 
Appeal Method: Written Representations  
__________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen45

Eitem yr Agenda7



Mae’r dudalen hon yn fwriadol wag



SECTION B – MATTERS FOR INFORMATION 
 
DELEGATED APPLICATIONS  
DETERMINED BETWEEN 24th JULY 2023 AND 11th AUGUST 2023 
 

App No:  P2022/0914 

Proposal: Replacement ATM header sign. 
Location: 3 Windsor Road  Neath  SA11 1LN       
Decision: Approved 
Ward: Neath North 

 

App No:  P2022/1040 

Proposal: Variation of condition 1 (relating to the cessation date 
for quarrying operations) attached to planning 
permission P2006/0853 in order to extend the 
operational life of the quarry to 2040 (excluding the 
time period required for restoration operations) 

Location: Cwm Nant Lleici Quarry  Gellifowy Road  Ynysmeudwy  
Pontardawe  Swansea   

Decision: Approved subject to a 106 agreement 
Ward: PontardawePontardawePontardawe 

 

App No:  P2023/0029 

Proposal: Replacement of external ATM Sign. 
Location: 3 Windsor Road  Neath  SA11 1LN       
Decision: Approved 
Ward: Neath North 

 

App No:  P2023/0084 

Proposal: Details to be agreed in association with condition 12 
(sound rating level scheme) of application P2022/0470 
granted on 12/10/22 (Revised report submitted to 
address changes to the approved scheme via the NMA 
application P2023/0311). 

Location: Land At Baglan Way  Port Talbot         
Decision: Approved 
Ward: Baglan 

 

Tudalen47

Eitem yr Agenda8



App No:  P2023/0151 

Proposal: Part two/part single storey side/rear extensions. 
Location: Abernant Hir Farm   Lane Between 31 And 33 Min Y 

Coed  Glynneath  SA11 5RU     
Decision: Approved 
Ward: Glynneath Central & East 

 

App No:  P2023/0188 

Proposal: Retention of steel portal frame agricultural barn for the 
storage of agricultural machinery, livestock  and the 
storage of feed and fodder 

Location: Blaengweffrith Farm  Tonmawr  Neath  Neath Port 
Talbot  SA12 9TA   

Decision: Approved 
Ward: Resolven & Tonna 

 

App No:  P2023/0264 

Proposal: Details to be agreed in association with condition 21 
(Verification report which demonstrates the 
effectiveness of the agreed remediation works) of 
application P2011/0486 (Residential development 10 
detached dwellings and associated works) granted on 
11 December 2019 (Contamination Verification Report 
received 25.05.23) 

Location: The Welfare Hall  Maes Y Parc  Glynneath  Neath  
SA11 5EE   

Decision: Approved 
Ward: Glynneath Central & East 

 

App No:  P2023/0287 

Proposal: Certificate of Lawful Development (existing) for use of 
the building as a holiday let 

Location: Gilfach Fach Farm   Lane From Neath Road To Gilfach 
Fach Farm  Bryncoch  Neath  SA10 7YP   

Decision: Issue Certificate 
Ward: Bryncoch North 

 

App No:  P2023/0292 

Tudalen48



Proposal: Proposed single storey detached garage, the works for 
which would include the demolition of an existing 
detached garage 

Location: 18 Bronywawr  Pontardawe  Swansea  Neath Port 
Talbot  SA8 4JY   

Decision: Approved 
Ward: Pontardawe 

 

App No:  P2023/0305 

Proposal: Diversion of Bwlch Forest Track 
Location: Bwlch Forest Track Diversion Between  Blaengwynfi 

And Treorchy         
Decision: Approved 
Ward: Gwynfi & Croeserw 

 

App No:  P2023/0323 

Proposal: Certificate of lawful development (proposed) for the use 
of the existing dwelling (use class C3) as a small 
children's home for the care of 2 children together with 
associated 2 no. live-in staff under use class C3 

Location: 103 Main Road  Dyffryn Cellwen  Neath  Neath Port 
Talbot  SA10 9LG   

Decision: Issue Certificate 
Ward: Crynant, Onllwyn & Seven Sisters 

 

App No:  P2023/0327 

Proposal: Development of detached garage with attic storage 
situated in front garden, extension of driveway and 
development of retaining wall along side boundary. 

Location: 18 Morgan Street  Trebanos  Pontardawe  SA8 4DW     
Decision: Approved 
Ward: Trebanos 

 

App No:  P2023/0335 

Proposal: Proposed erection of a 6ft (1.82m) wooden fence 
around the site boundary 

Location: Bethany Apostolic Church   Brynna Road  Cwmavon  
SA12 9LJ     

Decision: Approved 

Tudalen49



Ward: Bryn And Cwmavon 
 

App No:  P2023/0339 

Proposal: Detached granny annex for use ancillary to the donor 
property 

Location: Tanyrallt   Graig Road  Gwaun Cae Gurwen  SA18 
1EH     

Decision: Approved 
Ward: Gwaun Cae Gurwen & Lower Brynamman 

 

App No:  P2023/0341 

Proposal: Details to be agreed in accordance with condition 3 
(desk study), condition 4 (remediation scheme) and 
condition 5 (water drainage scheme) of application 
P2022/0922 granted on 15.12.2022. 

Location: Ocean View House   191 Victoria Road  Sandfields  
Port Talbot  SA12 6QJ   

Decision: Approved 
Ward: Sandfields East 

 

App No:  P2023/0347 

Proposal: First floor extension to the rear with Juliette balcony 
and flat roof single storey extension to the rear. 

Location: 56 Darren Wen,   Baglan,   Port Talbot,   Neath Port 
Talbot,   SA12 8YN    

Decision: Approved 
Ward: Baglan 

 

App No:  P2023/0354 

Proposal: Creation of 3 number flats on 1st, 2nd and third floors 
of property. 

Location: 29 Station Road  Port Talbot  SA13 1NN       
Decision: Refused 
Ward: Port Talbot 

 

App No:  P2023/0359 

Tudalen50



Proposal: Section 73 application for the variation of condition 1 of 
planning permission P2021/0779  approved on 28.8.21, 
to allow for a further 2 years  for the siting of 4 no.  
temporary classrooms and facilities. 

Location: Sports Field Adjoining  Cwmtawe Community School  
Ffordd Parc Ynysderw  Pontardawe  Swansea   

Decision: Approved 
Ward: Pontardawe 

 

App No:  P2023/0363 

Proposal: Proposed single storey rear extension and alterations 
to fenestration. 

Location: 26 Daphne Road  Bryncoch  Neath  Neath Port Talbot  
SA10 8DP   

Decision: Approved 
Ward: Bryncoch South 

 

App No:  P2023/0380 

Proposal: Retention and completion of part two storey side 
extension, replacement part of front canopy and single 
storey rear extension. 

Location: 57 Woodview  Cimla  Neath  SA11 3BX     
Decision: Approved 
Ward: Cimla & Pelenna 

 

App No:  P2023/0397 

Proposal: Loft conversion with dormers to front and rear roof 
planes. 

Location: 22 Ashgrove  Baglan  SA12 8PP       
Decision: Approved 
Ward: Baglan 

 

App No:  P2023/0404 

Proposal: Works to one Horse Chestnut tree covered by Tree 
Preservation Order T44/A1. The works include: the 
length of regrowth/ epicomic growth to be removed is of 
growth no longer than 2.5 metres long & a maximum of 
30mm diameter & pruned to main trunk. 

Tudalen51



Location: 33A Penywern Road  Bryncoch  Neath  Neath Port 
Talbot  SA10 7AW   

Decision: Approved 
Ward: Bryncoch South 

 

App No:  P2023/0420 

Proposal: Proposed two-storey rear extension, single storey rear 
extension and fence to front. 

Location: 4 Brynhyfryd  Glynneath  Neath  Neath Port Talbot  
SA11 5BA   

Decision: Approved 
Ward: Glynneath Central & East 

 

App No:  P2023/0425 

Proposal: Change of use to form a restaurant (A3 use class) and 
business premises (B1 use class) including associated 
internal and external alterations to the listed building 
and the provision of a new external terrace/fire escape. 

Location: Moose Hall  Castle Street  Neath  Neath Port Talbot  
SA11 3LU   

Decision: Approved 
Ward: Neath North 

 

App No:  P2023/0433 

Proposal: Proposed single storey porch to front elevation. 
Location: 11 Jac Y Ddu Road  Briton Ferry  SA11 2LT       
Decision: Approved 
Ward: Briton Ferry West 

 

App No:  P2023/0443 

Proposal: Demolition of existing garage and adjoining utility room 
and replacement with garage and adjoining garden 
room, with solar panels. 

Location: 3 Tonna Uchaf  Tonna  SA11 3JZ       
Decision: Approved 
Ward: Resolven & Tonna 

 

App No:  P2023/0444 

Tudalen52



Proposal: DNS Pre-Application Consultation: Wind farm of up to 
18 turbines with battery energy storage and ancillary 
infrastructure 

Location: Y Bryn Wind Farm  North-East Of The M4 Motorway 
Between Port Talbot And Maesteg         

Decision: Objections 

Ward: 
Margam & TaibachMargam & TaibachMargam & 
Taibach 

 

App No:  P2023/0454 

Proposal: Single-storey rear extension to replace existing 
extension, with additional fenestration and raised patio 
area, first floor bathroom extension, 4No. roof lights 
and screen  to boundary. 

Location: 17 Conduit Place  Taibach  Port Talbot  Neath Port 
Talbot  SA13 2TT   

Decision: Approved 
Ward: Margam & Taibach 

 

App No:  P2023/0457 

Proposal: Proposed single storey side extension, the works for 
which would include the construction of a new pitched 
roof covering the proposed extension and the existing 
garage and canopy style porch structures, and the 
conversion of the existing garage into ancillary living 
space 

Location: 20 Woodlands Park Drive  Cadoxton  Neath  Neath 
Port Talbot  SA10 8DE   

Decision: Approved 
Ward: Cadoxton 

 

App No:  P2023/0469 

Proposal: Works to 2x Oak Trees (identified as T1 & T2) 
protected by tree preservation order T200/A9: - 
- T1 (Oak) - Reduce all branches which are above the 
seating area and around the southern section of the 
crowns circumference by 2.5 to 3 metres. 
- T2 (Oak) - Reduce all branches on the southern 
section of the crowns circumference by a maximum of 
2.5 meters. 

Tudalen53



Location: 9 Penyralltwen Park  Rhos  Pontardawe  Swansea  
Neath Port Talbot   

Decision: Approved 
Ward: Rhos 

 

App No:  P2023/0472 

Proposal: Proposed single storey rear extension and new pitched 
roof to side porch. 

Location: 6 Golf Road  Sandfields  Port Talbot  Neath Port Talbot  
SA12 6RH   

Decision: Approved 
Ward: Sandfields East 

 

App No:  P2023/0475 

Proposal: Prior Notification for a proposed telecommunications 
Phase 8 Monopole 15m high mast and associated 
ancillary works. 

Location: Water Street   Margam  Neath Port Talbot   SA13 2PA     
Decision: Prior Notification Approval Not Required 
Ward: Margam & Taibach 

 

App No:  P2023/0500 

Proposal: Proposed erection of metal sculpture archway adjacent 
to Crymlyn Burrows SSSI (alternative siting to that 
approved under application P2022/1020) 

Location: Swansea University Bay Campus  Fabian Way  
Crymlyn Burrows  Swansea  Neath Port Talbot   

Decision: Approved 
Ward: Coedffranc West 

 

App No:  P2023/0502 

Proposal: Prior notification for the erection of a 25m high 
Telecommunications mast with associated compound, 
cabinets, fencing and engineering works. 

Location: Land Off Phoenix Wharf Access Road  Port Talbot 
Docks  Port Talbot  SA13 1RN     

Decision: Prior Notification Approval Not Required 
Ward: Margam & Taibach 

 

Tudalen54



App No:  P2023/0513 

Proposal: Details to be agreed in relation to condition 6 
(verification report - effectiveness of agreed 
contaminated land remediation works) of planning 
application P2022/0226 granted on 27/6/22 

Location: Unit 1  Ynysygerwn Avenue  Aberdulais  Neath  Neath 
Port Talbot   

Decision: Approved 
Ward: Aberdulais 

 

App No:  P2023/0515 

Proposal: Certificate of lawfulness for proposed internal 
alterations and alterations to the north west elevation to 
create a residential annexe 

Location: 84 Mariners Point  Sandfields  Port Talbot  SA12 6DN     
Decision: Issue Certificate 
Ward: Sandfields East 

 

App No:  P2023/0520 

Proposal: Borrow pit for the purpose of construction and 
maintenance of forest roads and hard standings. 

Location: Natural Resources Wales: Glyncorrwg Forest   1 1.25 
Miles East Of Glyncorrwg  Forest Borrow Pit  
Glyncorrwg  SA13 3TY   

Decision: Prior Notification Approval Not Required 
Ward: Cymmer & Glyncorrwg 

 

App No:  P2023/0523 

Proposal: Demolition of single storey flat roof extension and 
construction of new single storey wrap-around side and 
rear extension. 

Location: 6 Llewellyn Close  Taibach  Port Talbot  Neath Port 
Talbot  SA13 2TY   

Decision: Approved 
Ward: Margam & Taibach 

 

App No:  P2023/0537 

Tudalen55



Proposal: Lawful Development Certificate (Proposed) for 
construction of W.C/ Lobby extension 

Location: 3 Nant Y Fedw  Croeserw  Cymmer  Port Talbot  Neath 
Port Talbot   

Decision: Issue Certificate 
Ward: Gwynfi & Croeserw 

 

App No:  P2023/0547 

Proposal: Details to be agreed in association with condition 7 
(verification report) of planning permission P2021/1232 
granted on 10th February 2022 (for erection of a 
building to cover an existing sports facility) 

Location: Llandarcy Academy Of Sport   Access Road To 
Llandarcy Village  Llandarcy  SA10 6JD     

Decision: Approved 
Ward: Coedffranc West 

 

App No:  P2023/0553 

Proposal: Certificate of Lawful Development for the construction 
of a porch to the front elevation. 

Location: 6 Dalton Road  Sandfields  Port Talbot  SA12 6SF     
Decision: Issue Certificate 
Ward: Sandfields East 

 

App No:  P2023/0578 

Proposal: Non material amendment to planning permission ref. 
P2023/0316 approved 13/06/23: addition of two roof 
light windows within the southern roof slope of the two-
storey rear extension and one roof light window within 
the northern roof slope of the single storey rear 
extension. 

Location: 34 Parc Gilbertson  Rhydyfro  Pontardawe  Swansea  
Neath Port Talbot   

Decision: Approved 
Ward: Pontardawe 

 

Tudalen56


	Agenda
	4 Cais Rhif P2023/0265 - Tir yn Foundry Road
	5 Cais Rhif P2023/0480 - 6 Cardonnel Road
	6 Apeliadau y Penderfynwyd arnynt - 24/07/2023 i 11/08/2023
	7 Apeliadau a dderbyniwyd - 24/07/2023 i 11/08/2023
	8 Penderfyniadau Dirprwyedig - 24/07/2023 i 11/08/2023

